## Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

**Masters Theses** 

Graduate College

6-2021

## Effects of Traditional and Microbially-Focused Restoration Techniques on Soil Communities In Tallgrass Prairies

Zachary J. Whitacre Western Michigan University, zach1whit@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/masters\_theses

Part of the Environmental Microbiology and Microbial Ecology Commons, and the Plant Sciences Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Whitacre, Zachary J., "Effects of Traditional and Microbially-Focused Restoration Techniques on Soil Communities In Tallgrass Prairies" (2021). *Masters Theses*. 5221. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/masters\_theses/5221

This Masters Thesis-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.



## EFFECTS OF TRADITIONAL AND MICROBIALLY-FOCUSED RESTORATION TECHNIQUES ON SOIL COMMUNITIES IN TALLGRASS PRAIRIES

by

Zachary J. Whitacre

A thesis submitted to the Graduate College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science Biological Sciences Western Michigan University June 2021

Thesis committee:

Kathryn Docherty, Ph.D., Chair Dave Karowe, Ph.D. Jonathan Bauer, Ph.D.

## EFFECTS OF TRADITIONAL AND MICROBIALLY-FOCUSED RESTORATION TECHNIQUES ON SOIL COMMUNITIES IN TALLGRASS PRAIRIES

Zachary J. Whitacre, M.S.

Western Michigan University, 2021

Tallgrass prairies have virtually disappeared in many parts of their former range due to the conversion of this ecosystem to farmland. In more recent years there have been efforts to restore these prairies on reclaimed agricultural land. However, these restored prairies do not resemble their remnant counterparts in many ways, such as in soil microbial community composition and metrics related to carbon storage. In Chapter 1, I show that bacterial communities in a restored prairie and an adjacent remnant prairie in southwest Michigan differ in their immediate and longer-term responses to prescribed fire, a commonly used prairie restoration and maintenance technique. Overall, results show that bacterial communities in the remnant prairie were more resilient to the prescribed fire event than the bacterial communities in the restored prairie. In Chapter 2, I explore the effects of carbon addition in the form of pure cellulose and plant biomass as well as the effects of plants and soil type on soil microbial communities and metrics related to carbon storage and in two new prairie restorations, one in southwest Michigan and one in eastern Minnesota. We found that through biomass addition there were increases in metrics related to carbon storage in both prairies when plants were present. Conversely, the response of the soil microbial communities differed in these two restorations in response to carbon addition and the presence of plants suggesting that differences in soil type can set restorations of different trajectories.

Copyright by Zachary J. Whitacre 2021

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST (	OF TABLES		 	 	V
LIST	OF FIGURE	S	 	 	vi

## CHAPTER

I. DIFFERENTIAL RESPONSES OF SOIL BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES	
TO A PRESCIBED FIRE IN A PAIRED RESTORED AND REMNANT	1
PRAIRIE SYSTEM	1
Introduction	2
Methods	7
Site Description	7
Experimental Design and Soil Sampling	8
Vegetation Sampling	9
Soil Abiotic Measurements	10
Extracellular Enzyme Activities	10
DNA Extraction and Sequencing	11
Bioinformatics Analysis and Putative Metabolic Pathway Prediction	12
Data Analysis and Statistics	14
Results	16
Immediate Effects of Fire on Soil Properties, Community Composition and Function	17
Immediate Effects of Fire in the Restored Prairie	18
Immediate Responses to Fire in the Remnant Prairie	22
Longer-term Effects of Fire on Soil Properties and	
Community Composition	23
Longer-term Effects of Fire on Soil Properties and Community Composition in the Restored Prairieii	25

## Table of Contents—Continued

## CHAPTER

Longer-term Effects of Fire on Soil Properties and Community	
Composition in the Remnant Prairie	27
Discussion	
Influences of spatial Heterogeneity on Soil Bacterial Community	
Responses in the Restored and Remnant Prairie	28
Differential Immediate Functional Responses to Prescribed Fire in the	
Restored and Remnant Prairies	30
Longer-term Resilience in the Remnant Prairie,	
but not in the Restored prairie	32
Conclusions	

## II. EXPLORING THE EFFECTS OF CARBON ADDITON AND PLANT PRESENCE ON BELOWGROUND RESTORATION IN TWO RECLAIMED PRAIRIES ON DIFFERENT SOIL TYPES...

CLAIMED PRAIRIES ON DIFFERENT SOIL TYPES	
Introduction	38
Methods	43
Site Description	43
Experimental Design	44
Carbon Addition	45
Plant Treatments	45
Soil Sampling	46
Vegetation Sampling and Bulk Density	46
Soil Respiration Measurements	47
Soil Abiotic Measurements	47
Extracellular Enzyme Activities	48
Phospholipid Fatty Acid (PLFA) Analysis	48

## Table of Contents—Continued

## CHAPTER

DNA Extraction and Sequencing49
Sequence Processing and Analysis49
Data Analysis and Statistics
Results
Fine Loam Soil53
Fine Loam Overall Carbon Treatment and Plant Effects53
Carbon Treatment Effects with Plants Absent in the Fine Loam54
Carbon Treatment Effects with Plants Present in the Fine Loam59
Coarse loam soil61
Coarse Loam Overall Treatment and Plant Effects
Carbon Treatment Effects with Plants Absent in the Coarse Loam66
Carbon Treatment Effects with Plants Present in the Coarse Loam69
Discussion71
Biomass and Cellulose Addition are not Equivalent71
Effects of Plants on Soil and Microbial Characteristics
Soil Types77
Implications for Management78
REFERENCES
APPENDICES
A. Supplemental Information for Chapter I98
B. Supplemental Information for Chapter II118

## LIST OF TABLES

1.	Results of linear mixed models for soil characteristics in the fine loam	57
2.	Results of linear mixed models for biotic characteristics in the fine loam	58
3.	Results of linear mixed models for soil characteristics in the coarse loam	64
4.	Results of linear mixed models for biotic characteristics in the coarse loam	.65

## LIST OF FIGURES

1.	Ordinations of bacterial communities 1-day post-fire	18
2.	Stacked bar plots of bacterial phyla in the remnant and restored prairies	20
3.	Abundance of bacterial families that were differentially abundant in the burned and control plots of the restored prairie	21
4.	Heatmap of functional pathways in the restored prairie	22
5.	Ordinations of the bacterial communities in the restored and remnant prairies longer-term.	24
6.	Abundance of bacterial families that were differentially abundant in the burned and control plots of the restored prairie 11-months post-fire	27
7.	Ordinations of bacterial communities in the fine loam	.56
8.	Bubble plot of bacterial relative abundance in the fine loam	59
9.	Structural equation models for the fine loam	60
10.	Ordinations of bacterial communities in the coarse loam	63
11.	Bubble plot of bacterial relative abundance in the coarse loam	.66
12.	Structural equation models for the coarse loam soil	68

#### CHAPTER I

## DIFFERENTIAL RESPONSES OF SOIL BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES TO A PRESCIBED FIRE IN A PAIRED RESTORED AND REMNANT PRAIRIE SYSTEM

Restoration of prairie and oak savanna systems on former agricultural land is vital for improving soil health and ecosystem services. Restored and remnant systems are often managed using the same techniques, including implementation of prescribed fire. Yet, soil microbial communities and functions in these two types of systems typically differ, due to past land-use history and current plant community composition. In this study, we investigated the responses of soil bacterial communities, enzyme activities and putative functional pathways to the effects of prescribed fire in a paired remnant and restored prairie system located in southwest Michigan, USA. We examined the immediate effects of fire one day after the fire as well as the longer-term effects in a time series extending to 11-months after the fire. Our results indicate that the soil bacterial communities in the remnant were immediately responsive in composition but not in predicted function. Additionally, remnant community composition in burned plots returned to the composition in the control within one month, indicating resiliency in this community. In contrast, soil bacterial communities in the restoration shifted both compositionally and functionally one day after the fire, and continued to differ after 11-months. Past land-use effects on bacterial community composition and site-level heterogeneity, coupled with present-day differences in plant communities and litter quantity, mediated the different responses in the two systems. Our results suggest that land management plans aimed at increasing soil functional resiliency may require different management strategies for restored and remnant prairies.

1

#### Introduction

Tallgrass prairie and oak savanna ecosystems are some of the most endangered ecosystems in North America, with less than 10 % of original prairies and less than 1 % of original savannas remaining (Nuzzo, 1985; Samson & Knopf, 1994, Hoekstra et al. 2005). After European expansion into the Midwestern and Great Plains regions in the United States in the 1800s, these ecosystems were largely converted to farmland and fire was suppressed in many of the remaining fragments of these ecosystems (Bragg and Hulbert, 1976; Chapman and Brewer, 2008; Koper et al., 2010; Allen & Palmer, 2011; Dey & Kabrick, 2015). The conversion of these grasslands to agricultural fields has resulted in the loss of one of the largest carbon sinks in North America (Guzman & Al-Kaisi, 2010). Intense cultivation altered the carbon stores in the soil by reducing carbon protected in soil aggregates, removing deep-rooted native plants, and disrupting plantassociated soil microbial communities, while long-term fertilization continued to change both plantassociated and free living soil microbial consortia (West & Six, 2007; Fierer et al., 2013; Dai et al., 2018; House & Bever, 2018). Combined, these losses in biotic and abiotic carbon stores have resulted in an estimated loss of 60 % of soil carbon stocks from this North American ecosystem (Conant et al., 2017).

There have been widespread efforts to restore farmland and other degraded ecosystems back to native grasslands, carbon-sequestering vegetation for grazing, or bioenergy crops (Field et al. 2020). However, these restored grassland communities differ from the communities in remnant (undisturbed) grasslands. Remnants have more diverse native plant communities with higher abundances of native forbs and woody shrubs that have high conservation values, as well as lower abundances of C<sub>4</sub> grasses that dominate many restorations (Martin et al., 2005; McLachlan & Knispel, 2005; Polley et al., 2005; Ladwig et al., 2018; Newbold et al., 2019). Importantly, plant communities with higher diversity have been shown to influence soil microbial communities by increasing microbial biomass and activity, and increasing litter decomposition and carbon storage (Lange et al., 2015; Santonja et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2018). Restored grassland systems also harbor shifted soil fungal and bacterial community composition and functions from those found in remnants (Jangid et al., 2010; Mackelprang et al., 2018; Docherty & Gutknecht, 2019). Many studies that examine restoration and management practices on soil microbes focus on soil fungi (e.g., Koziol & Bever, 2017; House & Bever, 2018; House & Bever, 2019; Bauer et al., 2020), while few have examined the effect of restoration on soil bacterial communities. Soil bacterial communities are an important component of ecosystems and mediate rate-limiting steps in soil biogeochemical cycles, which can influence overall ecosystem functioning and stability (Schimel & Schaeffer, 2012; Pérez-Valera et al., 2019). Multiple studies suggest that there is a long term legacy effect of agriculture on bacterial community structure and function in restored prairies (Jangid et al., 2010; Fierer et al., 2013; Barber et al., 2017; Mackelprang et al., 2018), and that it takes approximately three decades of restoration for bacterial communities in a restored prairie to approach convergence with communities found in remnants (e.g. Herzberger et al., 2014; Duncan et al., 2016; Barber et al. 2017). In some cases convergence may never occur, and restored soil communities are placed on a different trajectory from remnants after decades of agricultural manipulation (Jangid et al., 2010). The repercussions for function include lower carbon storage capacity in restored systems, which is important considering that carbon storage is a major incentive for restoring croplands back to grasslands. For example, in a paired restored and remnant experiment in Wisconsin, soils in the restored prairies stored 37 % less soil carbon and emitted more CO<sub>2</sub>, indicating that the

functions of the microbial communities in the restored prairie may have never converged to those in the remnant (Kucharik et al., 2006). A major compositional difference between remnant and restored systems is that remnants have a higher relative abundance of Verrucomicrobia that are positively correlated with genes related to complex carbohydrate metabolism, while restored prairies have a greater relative abundance of Betaproteobacteria which have a faster growth rate and metabolize more labile carbon substrates (e.g. Jangid et al. 2010; Fierer et al. 2013). Despite these taxonomic and functional differences, restored and remnant grasslands are generally managed in similar ways, despite the potential for differential responses.

Prescribed fire is one of the most important tools in a land manager's toolbox for preventing invasive or woody species encroachment and maintaining native plant diversity. Ecological disturbances, such as prescribed fire, can exert positive, negative, or neutral effects on communities (Coyle, 2017; Cohen et al. 2021) depending on whether the communities are resistant or resilient to the fire disturbance (Holling, 1973). Fire has a positive effect on plant communities in grasslands as it reduces the establishment of woody species and maintains plant community structure and is commonly used by managers to upkeep and restore these ecosystems (Bragg & Hulbert, 1976; Collins, 1987; Gibson & Hulbert, 1987; Tester, 1989; Anderson, 2006; Collins & Calabrese, 2012; Bowles & Jones, 2013). Fire increases plant productivity by reducing litter buildup (Knapp & Seastedt, 1986; Hulbert, 1988; Ojima et al., 1994), increases solar radiation reaching the soil, improves nutrient availability and increases pH (Raison, 1979; Hulbert, 1988; Ojima et al., 1994; Docherty et al., 2012; Alcañiz et al., 2018). Fires in grasslands also stimulate root production, increasing the amount of plant-associated carbon entering the soil (Johnson & Matchett, 2001). By influencing soil nitrogen input, soil pH, increasing root biomass, and increasing the soil temperature, soil bacterial communities are indirectly influenced by

prescribed fires (Johnson & Matchett, 2001; Hart et al., 2005; Kitchen et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2016; Strong et al., 2017). These effects can alter bacterial community functions, such as extracellular enzyme activities. Activities of organic carbon-degrading and phosphorus-mobilizing extracellular enzymes decrease after a burn (Eivazi & Bayan 1996; Ajwa et al., 1999; Gutknecht et al., 2010; Fultz et al., 2016), while responses of nitrogen-mobilizing enzymes can vary (Ajwa et al. 1999; Gutknecht et al., 2010). While high-intensity fires can have direct effects on bacterial mortality in the top few centimeters of soil (Raison 1979, Dunn et al. 1985, Hart et al. 2005, Wang et al. 2012), most prescribed fires in grasslands do not reach high temperatures, so the effects on bacterial communities are through indirect mechanisms (Valette et al., 1994; Dooley & Treseder 2012; Vega et al., 2013; Akburak et al., 2018). Yet, because of long-term legacy effects of agricultural disturbance, both plant and soil bacterial communities in restored systems may not respond to prescribed fire in the same way as communities in remnant prairies.

Current restoration and prescribed fire practices do not appear to restore grasslands that fully resemble remnants in both plant and bacterial community composition, possibly resulting in different community responses to prescribed fire disturbance (Newbold et al., 2019; Ladwig et al., 2020). From a plant perspective, many restorations result in a dominance of C<sub>4</sub> grasses over other native species, reducing plant species richness, floristic quality and habitat for specialist pollinators (Collins, 1987; Gibson & Hulbert, 1987; Baer et al. 2002; Camill et al. 2004; McLachlan & Knispel 2005; Kwaiser & Hendrix, 2008; Collins & Calabrese, 2012). When burned, ash from combusted biomass in a restored prairie may contain a more homogenous chemical composition than a remnant due to differences in plant community structure, potentially facilitating different indirect effects on soil bacterial communities (Bodí, 2014; Quigley et al., 2019).

5

While we know that prairie remnants harbor different bacterial communities than those found in restored prairies, especially in younger restorations, we do not know if these communities respond to fire disturbance in similar ways. In particular, differences in resistance and resilience to fire between restored and remnant systems could influence the overall trajectory of long-term management goals. To address this question, we conducted a field experiment in partnership with the Kalamazoo Nature Center (KNC) in Southwest Michigan, USA to determine the effect of a prescribed fire on soil bacterial community structure and function in a restored prairie and an adjacent remnant prairie over time. This region of Michigan is in an important ecotone between tallgrass prairies, oak savannas and deciduous forests, where species diversity is higher than within any one system, so it is particularly critical to manage systems in this region with practices that protect this transitional status. The partnership with the KNC allowed us to explore the effects of a typical prescribed fire conducted by a land management organization, which are inherently variable due to personal safety, coordination of the burn, weather conditions, and topography. Our objectives were to: 1) Determine whether soil bacterial community composition and function responded immediately (within one day) to prescribed fire and exhibited differential responses in the remnant and restored prairies; 2) Identify positive (resistant) fire-responding bacterial taxa in both prairie types immediately after a prescribed fire; 3) If immediate effects of fire were observed, determine whether bacterial community composition and function were resilient to fire disturbance longer term (over one year) and whether resilience differed by prairie type. We hypothesized that the soil bacterial communities in the remnant prairie would exhibit less of an immediate response to fire (resistance), with more positive fire responding taxa. We also hypothesized that the remnant communities would recover more quickly after fire (resilience) than in the restored prairie.

6

#### Methods

#### Site Description

We conducted this study from September 2013 to August 2014, in an agricultural field that had been restored to a tallgrass prairie and an adjacent remnant. Both sites are located in Kalamazoo County, Michigan, USA. Mean annual precipitation (based on 1981-2010; http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov) for Kalamazoo County is 907.8 mm with an average minimum temperature of 4.1°C and an average maximum temperature of 14.67°C. The total precipitation from September 2013-September 2014 was 758.70 mm with an average minimum temperature of 3.28°C and an average maximum temperature of 14.06°C (Kalamazoo/Battle Creek Int. Airport).

According to historical records, ca. 1800, the land where the agricultural field was located was characterized as black oak barrens (MNFI). From the early 1900's onward, this field was cultivated with rotations of corn and soybean crops. In 1993 KNC began restoring this property (~ 6.5 hectares) back to native tallgrass prairie using a Conservation Reserve Program (CRP) approved prairie seed mix that was skewed toward grasses (Bosse et al., 2016). The restored prairie was then managed with a prescribed fire return interval of every two to four years. The adjacent remnant prairie (~ 0.4 hectares) has never been tilled, however before acquisition of the prairie by the KNC it was unmanaged, allowing for the encroachment of woody vegetation (Bosse et al., 2016). After acquisition by the KNC the remnant prairie was also managed with prescribed fire every two to four years since the late 1970s (Bosse et al., 2016). Plant communities in both the restored and remnant sites were predominated by *Andropogon gerardii* 

(Big Bluestem), which comprised 56 % of the plant community in the restored prairie and 23 % in the remnant.

The soils in both the restored and remnant prairies are Alfisols. The dominant soil series located in the restored prairie is Kalamazoo loam (KaC) while the dominant soil series in the remnant is Oshtemo sandy loam (OsD). Both soil series are well drained, however KaC is more suitable to crop production than OsD due to shallower slopes and better water retention (NCSS, 1979) which may the reason why the remnant prairie was never used for crop production. As is common for remnants, the remnant prairie is adjacent to an old railway line which existed from 1870-1970, which also may have deterred agricultural use on that parcel of land.

#### Experimental Design and Soil Sampling

Both the remnant and restored prairies were subjected to a prescribed burn on September 25, 2013, facilitated by KNC. Burn breaks were established so that only a portion of each prairie was burned leaving a control (unburned) portion in each prairie that was separated from the burned portion with a burn break (Figure S1). We created a grid system overlaid on a map of the two prairies, assigned each grid numbers and randomly chose the locations of five 1 x 1 m plots in the areas to be burned in each field. Similarly, we randomly chose the locations of five 1 x 1 m plots in the unburned and burned areas of the remnant. Due to prescribed fire safety and logistical considerations, we were required to choose unburned plot locations evenly spaced along the east edge of the restored prairie. GPS coordinates for all plot locations are shown in (Table S1). Between 1-4 days before the burn was implemented, we collected triplicate 7-cm deep soil cores from each plot and homogenized soils from the three cores into one sample per plot. We cleaned and sterilized corers between plots. We placed the soils from each core into a

quart-sized zip-sealing plastic bag and placed the bag in a cooler on ice until returning to the laboratory and completing soil analyses, as described below. We collected soil samples in the same way from all plots the day after the prescribed burn on September 26, 2013 (1-day post-fire), October 2013 (1 month post-fire), April 2014 (7-months post-fire) and August 2014 (11-months post-fire). At every time point all soil cores from all plots were collected within a 1-2 day period, avoiding locations of previous core collection. This yielded 30 soil cores for each prairie type at each time point, with 15 cores from the control (unburned) plots and 15 cores from the experimental (burned) plots.

#### Vegetation Sampling

To determine the effect of the prescribed burn on the plant communities we measured aboveground plant biomass, litter mass, and belowground root biomass pre-fire in September 2013, in October 2013 (1-month post-fire) and in August 2014 (11-months post-fire). We measured plant aboveground biomass by clipping the live shoot biomass from each 1 x 1 m plot and then placing the biomass into lawn bags. We also collected senesced litter biomass from each plot. We transported the biomass and litter to WMU's Finch Greenhouse, where we air dried it for two weeks before weighing it. We collected belowground plant biomass from each plot using one 20 cm soil core per plot, which was placed into a paper bag. The bags were transported to WMU and dried before root biomass was manually separated from the soil and weighed. We assessed plant community composition in August 2014 in four transects in the burned and unburned portions of the remnant and restored prairies. Plants were identified to the species level and enumerated using a point-intercept method, as detailed in Bonham (1989).

#### Soil Abiotic Measurements

On the day of each soil collection, we removed a 50-g subset of soil which was frozen at -80°C until DNA extraction could be completed. We then sieved remaining field soil through a 2 mm sieve and measured soil pH, soil water content (SWC), soil organic matter (SOM) and conducted 0.5 M NaHCO<sub>3</sub> extractions for total soil phosphorus (TP) analysis as described in Docherty and Gutknecht (2019). We analyzed filtered NaHCO<sub>3</sub> extracts using molybdate-blue colorimetric analysis with a Brinkmann PC 900D probe colorimeter at 900 nm wavelength (Frank et al. 1998). To assess soil ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) and nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) concentrations, we conducted 2M KCl extractions using 10 g of fresh soil and 50 mL of 2M KCl. Extraction tubes were shaken on a platform shaker for 1 hour at 5000 rpm. We used vacuum filtration through a GF/F (Whatman) filter to collect the filtrate and stored it in a 20 mL plastic bottle at -20 C prior to analysis. We analyzed filtered KCl extracts for NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations using colorimetric assays measured at 540 nm and 650 nm respectively using an Epoch BioTek 96-well plate reader (Rhine et al., 1998).

#### Extracellular Enzyme Activities

We assessed the extracellular enzyme activity (EEA) potential of four hydrolytic enzymes using fluorescent-linked substrates to determine how the prescribed burn impacted enzyme activity. Details of these methods have been described previously (Sinsabaugh et al., 2005; Gutknecht et al., 2010; German et al., 2011). We tested for activities of cellobiohydrolase using 4-MUB-cellobioside,  $\beta$ -glucosidase using 4-MUB- $\beta$ -glucopyranoside, N-acetylglucosaminidase using 4-MUB-N-acetyl- $\beta$ -glucosaminide, and phosphatase using 4-MUB-phosphate. Briefly, we added 1 g of soil to 100 mL of 50 mM Tris buffer (pH 7) in a 100 mL centrifuge bottle and added a stir bar to the bottle and shook the mixture for 1 hour at 5000 rpm. We then added the soil slurry to black 96-well plates containing 50 mL of 200 mM 4-MUB-linked enzyme substrates. We included eight replicate wells for blanks (buffer alone), negative controls (only substrate solution or soil slurry with buffer), quench standards (4-MUB + soil slurry), and reference standards (4-MUB with buffer), as described in Gutknecht et al. (2010). After 50 minutes of reaction time in the dark at room temperature, we added 10 mL of 0.5 M NaOH and then read the plates 10 minutes after the NaOH addition. We measured fluorescence using a microplate fluorometer (Cary Eclipse) with 260 nm excitation and 465 emission filters. We calculated EEA potential as a rate expressed as (nmol substrate cleaved) x (g dry soil equivalent)<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

#### DNA Extraction and Sequencing

We extracted genomic DNA with a PowerSoil DNA Isolation Kit (MoBio, Carlsbad, CA, USA) using 0.25 g of soil, according to the manufacturer's instructions. Amplicon preparation and Mi-Seq (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) sequencing were conducted at the Michigan State University Genomics Core – Research Technology Support Facility. Samples were sequenced in two Mi-Seq runs: the pre-fire, September, and October time points were run together, and the April and August time points were run together. The V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene in Bacteria was amplified using primers 515F/806R (Kozich et al., 2013). DNA libraries were normalized using the Invitrogen SequalPrep Normalization Plate Kit -96 well, and samples from each replicate plate were pooled into single wells (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, A1051001). Pooled samples were quantified using a Kapa Biosystems qPCR kit and samples were normalized to an equal concentration (Kapa Biosystems, Inc., Wilmington, MA, KK4824). Each sample pool was loaded on an Illumina Mi-Seq flow cell v2 and sequenced using a 500

11

(PE250) cycle reagent cartridge. Bases were called using Real Time Analysis (RTA) software v1.18.54, and RTA output was demultiplexed and converted to FASTQ files using Illumina Bc12Fastq v1.8.4. Sequence files for triplicate samples per plot at each time point are publicly available in the National Center for Biotechnology Information Sequence Read Archive (NCBI-SRA) under accession numbers PRJNA706578 (pre-fire files) and PRJNA706648 (post-fire time series). All datasets associated with this manuscript are publicly available through Mendeley Data (Docherty & Whitacre, 2021)

#### Bioinformatics Analysis and Putative Metabolic Pathway Prediction

After the raw sequence data was returned, we processed the sequences using the QIIME2 bioinformatics platform version 2019.7 (Bolyen et al., 2019) by time point and prairie type. We used Divisive Amplicon Denoising Algorithm (DADA2) to merge paired reads, filter by sequence quality, denoise, create an Amplicon Sequence Variant (ASV) table, and remove chimeras (Callahan et al., 2017). For DADA2, forward and reverse reads were truncated at the 15th base pair (bp) from the 5<sup>-</sup> end to remove low quality regions of the sequences. From the 3<sup>-</sup> end, the sequences were truncated at the 249th and 231st bp for the forward and reverse reads, respectively. Sequences from the three technical replicate cores per plot were merged into one analysis unit prior to further bioinformatics steps. Sequences that occurred less than two times in all samples were removed. ASVs can be considered as presumed error-free sequences for each sample and more accurately reconstruct amplicon-sequenced communities at the highest resolution as compared to OTU clustering methods (Callahan et al., 2016) ASVs were then taxonomically assigned using the Naïve Bayes Classifier trained on the SILVA (version 132) 99% OTU database (Quast et al., 2012). Sequences that could not be classified at the Phylum taxonomic level were discarded. The two separate sequencing runs differed in the number of

total sequences per sample, where the first run (pre-fire, September, and October time points) had fewer sequences per sample than the later sequencing run (April and August time points) (Table S2). We rarefied the final ASV table for each time point (pre-fire, 1-day post-fire, 1-month post-fire, 7-months post-fire, and 11-months post-fire) within each prairie. Because our experimental design includes one remnant and one restored prairie with replicates at the plot level within each prairie, we restricted our statistical analyses to compare experimental and control plots within each time point only, and differentially compare responses in the restored and remnant sites.

We used Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States (PICRUSt) to predict potential metagenomic pathways (Langille et al., 2013). PICRUSt requires an OTU table, so we conducted the same steps as above except that closed-reference OTUs were selected and taxonomic information was assigned using the Greengenes version 13.5 reference database (DeSantis et al. 2006). We then used the resulting OTU table to predict potential metagenomics pathways (KEGG 1-3) using PICRUSt implemented using Galaxy (Giardine, 2005; Goecks et al., 2010). We normalized data to account for multiple copies of 16S rRNA in bacteria. After normalization we used PICRUSt to predict the metagenomic content of each sample. We focused on predicted pathways that were related to carbon and nitrogen cycling, DNA repair, cell division, and stress responses such as endospore production because we expected that bacterial communities that are resistant to fire would contain more pathways related to stress responses.

13

#### Data Analysis and Statistics

We conducted statistical analyses using the R statistical environment (version 3.6.3) (R Core Team, 2020). Our experimental design consisted of five replicates for each burn treatment (control or burned) at each time point (pre-fire, 1-day post-fire, 1-month post-fire, 7-months post-fire, and 11-months post-fire) and for each prairie type (remnant or restored). We used this paired time-series approach so we could address our objectives concerning resistance and resiliency of the soil bacterial communities and functions to prescribed burning. Specifically, we used the pre-fire time point to determine that there we no major differences between experimental and control plots in each prairie pre-fire (see Supplementary Methods, Table S3, Table S4). We used the 1-day post-fire time point to address objectives 1 and 2 regarding resistance to the fire. The later time points (1, 7, and 11-months post-fire) were used to address objective 3 regarding longer-term resiliency after fire.

For univariate measurements, we split our analyses so significant differences were assessed between the burned and control treatments within the remnant and restored prairie at each time point using repeated measures ANOVA with treatment and time as fixed factors. These univariate measures included pH, SOM, soil temperature, SWC, TP, each of the four EEAs, and ASV diversity and richness. We conducted multivariate statistics using the vegan package in R, version 2.5-6 (Oksanen et al., 2019) and we visualized multivariate data using principal coordinates analyses (PCoA) for bacterial data and non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) for plant data. We calculated weighted UniFrac distance matrices based on the 16S rRNA amplicon sequence data using QIIME2 (Lozupone & Knight, 2005). We then used QIIME2 to complete permutational multivariate analysis of variance tests (permanova) to determine if there were significant differences between the two treatments in the restored and remnant prairies.

To address whether the bacterial communities in both prairies were resistant to the fire disturbance (objective 1), we determined whether there were differences between control and burned plots in bacterial community structure ( $\beta$  diversity), Shannon diversity ( $\alpha$  diversity), and ASV richness 1-day post-fire, within each site. We used permanova analysis to determine whether there were significant differences in bacterial community structure. We also tested whether within-treatment variation (or distance from a centroid) differed between control and burned plots using the betadisper function in vegan at each time point (Anderson, 2006). We used the envfit function in vegan to determine which explanatory soil edaphic factors (pH, NO<sub>3</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub>, soil temperature, SWC) predicted significant variation soil bacterial communities in both prairie types. We calculated Shannon diversity and ASV richness using QIIME2 and used a Kruskal-Wallis test to determine whether there were significant differences between control and burned plots immediately post-fire. To address objective 2, we determined which bacterial families were differentially abundant between burned and control plots in both prairies 1-day post-fire, using Welch's t-test with Storey FDR (False Discovery Rate) correction in STAMP (Statistical analysis of taxonomic and functional profiles) (version: STAMP v2.1.3; Parks et al., 2014). We also used STAMP to test differences among putative metagenomics pathways predicted by PICRUSt between the burned and control plots using Welch's *t*-test with Storey FDR correction. Where appropriate we performed Pearson correlation analysis to examine the relationship between bacterial taxa that were significantly different between burn treatments and potential metagenomics pathways. To address whether bacterial communities in both prairie types were resilient to the fire disturbance (objective 3) we used the methods described above to

determine if the effect of fire on the soil bacteria community composition persisted at later time points (1-, 7-, and 11-months post-fire), or whether communities returned to their pre-fire state. We also determined which bacterial families were significantly different between burned treatments 11-months post-fire as described above. In addition, we performed Pearson correlation analysis to examine the relationship between bacterial taxa and soil edaphic factors that were significantly different between burn treatments 11-months post-fire.

#### Results

The overarching goal of this study was to determine whether there were differences in resistance and resilience to prescribed fire in soil bacterial communities in an adjacent remnant and restored prairies. Overall, our results suggest that bacterial communities in the remnant and restored prairies responded differently to prescribed fire, both immediately and over the longer-term. Below we describe in detail that bacterial community composition in both systems responded immediately to the prescribed fire, but functional responses were only observed in the restored prairie (objective 1). Fire-responsive taxa were present in both prairies, but the identities of these taxa differed (objective 2). Finally, bacterial communities in the two prairies exhibited differences in longer-term responses to recovery from prescribed fire (objective 3). Our results suggest that bacterial communities in the remnant prairie were more resilient to prescribed fire over the one-year time series, while communities in the restored prairie were resilient. Conversely, the function of the bacterial communities in the restored prairie were resilient, and returned to their original levels, while functional parameters in the remnant did not change, and remained resistant longer-term.

16

#### Immediate Effects of Fire on Soil Properties, Community Composition and Function

The soil bacterial community composition in both the restored and remnant prairies was not resistant to the effects of the prescribed fire with changes occurring in community structure in both prairie types within 1-day post-fire (Fig. 1). Though the same phyla or sub-phyla predominated both prairies before the fire (Verrucomicrobia, Acidobacteria, Alphaproteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, Betaproteobacteria, Deltaproteobacteria, Planctomycetes, and Gammaproteobacteria), community structure differed between the two prairies (Fig. 2). Immediate responses to burning differed between the restored and remnant

systems, both in abiotic factors and in bacterial community responses. While burning mediated significant immediate responses in bacterial community composition in both systems, different abiotic variables explained community variation in each prairie type (Fig 1). The prescribed burn increased soil pH in both prairie types but was related to an increase in soil NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentration only in the remnant (Tables S5 and S6). Below we describe immediate responses to prescribed fire in the restored prairie and remnant prairie in separate sections.



**Figure 1. Ordinations of bacterial communities 1-day post-fire.** Principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) ordinations based on weighted UniFrac distances between bacterial communities one-day post fire, identified using 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing for control (blue squares) and burned (red circles) plots in **A**) the restored prairie and **B**) the remnant prairie. Significance of permanova results was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . In both the remnant and restored prairies, the bacterial communities differed significantly between the control and burned plots (p = 0.01 and p = 0.007, respectively). Edaphic factors are represented by arrows, and the length of each arrow is proportional to the explanatory power of each variable; solid arrows indicate variables with significant explanatory. SWC explained a significant amount of variation in the restored prairie bacterial community structure (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.71, p = 0.015). pH and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentration explained a significant amount of variation in the remnant prairie bacterial community structure (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.63, p = 0.04 and R<sup>2</sup> = 0.75, p = 0.017; respectively).

#### Immediate Effects of Fire in the Restored Prairie

In the restored prairie, burned plots had a lower ASV diversity than control plots 1-day postfire. There was no significant difference in ASV richness between plots (Table S5). There were no differences in group dispersions (distance from centroid) in the bacterial communities between treatments (Table S7). Soil water content (SWC) explained a significant amount of variation in bacterial community structure ( $R^2 = 0.71$ , p = 0.015; Fig. 1A), and SWC was significantly higher in the burned plots than in the control plots. Specific taxonomic groups displayed distinct positive or negative responses to fire. Specifically, taxa within the classes Betaproteobacteria, Gammaproteobacteria, and Deltaproteobacteria were negative fire responders and were significantly less abundant in the burned plots than in the control (p = 0.0045, p = 0.0068 and p = 0.013, respectively; Fig. 2). In contrast, the relative abundance of Verrucomicrobia was 1.36 x more abundant in the burned plots than in the control, though this was not significant (p = 0.093). Four bacterial families were significantly different in abundance between the burned and control plots of the restored prairie (p < 0.05, Fig. 3). Taxa that were negative fire responders were the families *Flavobacteriaceae* [Phylum: Bacteroidetes], *Micropepsaceae* [Sub-phylum: Alphaproteobacteria], and an unclassified family of the order *Desulfuromonadales* [Sub-phylum: Deltaproteobacteria]. Only one family was a positive fire responder; this was *Xiphinematobacteraceae* [Phylum: Verrucomicrobia].

There were immediate functional responses in the restored prairie 1-day post-fire. βglucosidase and phosphatase enzyme activities were both lower in the burned plots (Table S5) and there was a strong effect of fire on predicted metabolic pathways (Fig. 4). Predicted pathways indicating simple carbohydrate metabolism such as fructose, mannose, and galactose metabolism were higher in the burned plots relative to the control (Fig. 4). Additionally, putative pathways indicating nitrogen mobilization such as alanine, aspartate, glutamate, and other amino acid metabolism pathways were also higher in the burned plots compared to the control, which could indicate nitrogen limitation after the prescribed fire. Pathways for DNA repair, such nucleotide excision repair and base excision repair, and sporulation were more abundant in the burned plots as well. Conversely, predicted pathways related to cell division, DNA replication, translation and plant-pathogen interaction were lower in the burned plots than in the control plots.



**Figure 2. Stacked bar plots of bacterial phyla in the remnant and restored prairies.** Percent relative abundance of bacterial phyla that comprise >1 % relative abundance in control and burned treatments in the remnant prairie and restored prairie 1-day post-fire. Presumed oligotrophic phyla are shown in shades of orange while presumed copiotrophic phyla are shown in shades of green. Phyla that differ significantly between treatments are indicated with bold lines and phyla that were marginally different were indicated with a dashed line. Significance was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . The relative abundance of Latescibacteria was significantly higher in the burned treatment as compared to the control in the remnant prairie (p = 0.03). The relative abundances of Betaproteobacteria, Gammproteobacteria, and Deltaproteobacteria were significantly lower in the burned treatment as compared to the control in the restored prairie (p = 0.0045, p = 0.0068, and p = 0.013; respectively). The relative abundance of Verrucomicrobia 1.36 x higher in the restored prairie (p = 0.093) after burning.

Of the bacterial taxa that displayed distinct responses to the fire in the restored prairie, the relative abundances of positive fire responders correlated with predicted metabolic pathways for carbohydrate metabolism, while taxa that decreased in abundance were positively correlated with metabolic pathways for cell division and DNA replication. When examined at the phylum level,

Betaproteobacteria and Gammaproteobacteria were positively correlated with putative pathways for cell division ( $r^2 = 0.83$  and 0.85, respectively; Table S8) while Verrucomicrobia were positively correlated with putative fructose and mannose metabolism pathways ( $r^2 = 0.88$ ; Table S8). Betaproteobacteria were also positively correlated with the pathway for DNA replication while both Betaproteobacteria and Gammaproteobacteria were negatively correlated with pathways for carbohydrate metabolism and DNA repair (Table S8). At the family level all taxa that were negative fire responders (*Flavobacteriaceae*, *Micropepsaceae* and an unclassified family in the order *Desulfuromonadales*) were positively correlated with the pathway for cell division (Table S9). *Xiphinematobacteraceae* [Phylum: Verrucomicrobia], which was a positive fire responder, was negatively correlated with pathways involved in cell division and DNA replication and positively correlated for pathways for carbohydrate metabolism (Table S9).



Figure 3. Abundance of bacterial families that were differentially abundant in the burned and control plots of the restored prairie. Significance was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . P-values were corrected using Storey false discovery rate (p < 0.05).

	Control	Burned
Alanine, aspartate, and glutamate metabolism Glycine, serine, and threonine metabolism		
Tyrosine metabolism		
Carbohydrate metabolism		
Galactose metabolism		
Fructose and mannose metabolism		
Base excision repair		
Nucleotide excision repair		
Sporulation		
Cell division		
DNA replication		
DNA replication proteins		
Translation		
Plant-pathogen interaction		

Figure 4. Heatmap of functional pathways in the restored prairie. Heatmap indicating significant differences in the proportion of functional gene categories at KEGG level 3 for control vs burned plots 1-day post-fire in the restored prairie. Significance was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ , dark shading indicates that the proportion of the functional gene category is higher. P-values were corrected using Storey false discovery rate (p < 0.05).

#### Immediate Responses to Fire in the Remnant Prairie

Immediate responses to fire in the remnant prairie differed from those we observed in the restored prairie in several key ways. In the remnant, ASV diversity and richness were higher in the burned plots than the control plots (Table S6). While there was an immediate response to burning in the remnant soil bacterial community (Fig. 1B), the edaphic factors that explained the variation in community structure differed from that in the restored prairie. In the remnant, pH and  $NH_4^+$  concentration explained a significant amount of variation in the bacterial community structure in the burned and control plots ( $R^2 = 0.63$ , p = 0.04 and  $R^2 = 0.75$ , p = 0.017 respectively; Fig. 1B). Although there was a significant shift in bacterial community structure in the remnant immediately after the burn, relative abundances of all major phyla remained stable,

and only one low-abundance phylum (Latescibacteria) was positively responsive to fire (p = 0.03, Fig. 2). There were also no differences in group dispersions in the bacterial communities between treatments (Table S6). No bacterial families differed in abundance between the burned and control plots in the remnant. In addition, none of the functional responses we observed in the restored prairie were evident in the remnant. Extracellular enzyme activities and metabolic pathways did not differ between the control and burned plots 1-day post-fire (Table S6, Fig. S3).

Overall, our results show that bacterial community composition and function in the restored and remnant prairies we examined exhibited different immediate responses to prescribed fire. Bacterial communities in both prairies changed immediately post-fire, indicating that the communities were not resistant to fire. But, in the restored prairie the response was within major phyla within the community which was coupled with significant functional responses. In contrast, in the remnant, there were no changes in the relative abundances of the dominant soil phyla and there were no functional responses among the parameters we measured.

#### Longer-term Effects of Fire on Soil Properties and Community Composition

Differences in recovery from fire between the remnant and restored prairies were also evident over the longer-term. Overall, our results indicate that soil bacterial communities and edaphic properties in the restored prairie were not resilient to the effects of prescribed fire after one year post-fire (Fig. 5). In contrast the remnant soil bacterial communities were only moderately affected by the prescribed fire immediately, and were resilient to fire and the ensuing changes in soil edaphic factors throughout the year following the fire (Fig. 5). Below we describe year-long responses to prescribed fire in the restored prairie and remnant prairie in separate sections.



Figure 5. Ordinations of the bacterial communities in the restored and remnant prairies longer term. Principal coordinates analysis ordinations based on weighted UniFrac distances between bacterial communities identified using 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing for control (blue squares) and burned (red circles) plots in the restored prairie (left) and the remnant prairie (right) at A) 1-month post-fire B) 7-months post-fire and C) 11-month post-fire. Significance was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . In the restored prairie the bacterial communities did not significantly differ between treatments 1-month post-fire (p = 0.461). At 7- and 11months post-fire the bacterial communities did differ significantly between treatments in the restored prairie (p = 0.032 and p = 0.017, respectively). Edaphic factors are represented by arrows, and the length of each arrow is proportional to the explanatory power of each variable. Solid arrows indicate variables with significant explanatory power and dashed arrows indicate variables that were not significantly explanatory. pH, soil temperature and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration explained a significant amount of variation in the restored prairie bacterial community structure 7-months post-fire plots ( $R^2 = 0.69$ , p = 0.014;  $R^2 = 0.95$ , p =0.001;  $R^2 = 0.82$ , p = 0.003, respectively). pH and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration explained a significant amount of variation in the restored prairie bacterial community structure 11-months post-fire plots ( $R^2 = 0.85$ , p = 0.001 and  $R^2 = 0.64$ , p = 0.022, respectively). In the remnant prairie the bacterial communities did not significantly differ between treatments at any of the timepoints (p = 0.979, p = 0.768, and p = 0.125; respectively), and edaphic factors did not explain any significant variation.

# Longer-term Effects of Fire on Soil Properties and Community Composition in the Restored Prairie

The soil bacterial communities in the restored prairie were not resilient to the prescribed fire and the corresponding changes in soil edaphic factors. While there were no differences in ASV richness and diversity in the restored prairie 1-, 7-, or 11-months post-fire (Table S5), there were longer-term effects of fire on bacterial community composition in the restored prairie 7- and 11-months post-fire (Fig. 5). Seven-months post-fire pH, soil temperature, and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration explained a significant amount of variation in the bacterial community in the burned and control plots ( $R^2 = 0.69$ , p = 0.014;  $R^2 = 0.95$ , p = 0.001;  $R^2 = 0.82$ , p = 0.003, respectively: Fig. 5B). Eleven-months post-fire, pH and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration explained a significant in the bacterial community in the burned and control plots ( $R^2 = 0.69$ , p = 0.014;  $R^2 = 0.95$ , p = 0.001;  $R^2 = 0.82$ , p = 0.003, respectively: Fig. 5B). Eleven-months post-fire, pH and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration explained a

0.85, p = 0.001 and  $R^2 = 0.64$ , p = 0.022, respectively; Fig. 5C). The burned plots had significantly higher  $\beta$ -glucosidase and phosphatase activities 7- and 11-months post-fire, respectively (Table S5). The burned plots also exhibited significantly less aboveground plant litter (AGL) for the remainder of the experiment (Table S6), while the aboveground plant biomass (AGB) recovered to levels found in the control plots 11-months post-fire (Table S5). The prescribed fire had no effect on plant community composition in the restored prairie (p = 0.34, Fig. S4, Table S10).

To examine the longer term effects of fire on fire-responsive bacterial taxa, we compared control and burned plots at the 11-month time point. Relative abundances of several taxonomic groups differed in between the burned and control plots in the restored prairie. Specifically, the relative abundance of Deltaproteobacteria was higher in the burned plots than in the control (p = (0.046) while Planctomycetes were less abundant (p < 0.001). Betaproteobacteria were also marginally more abundant (p = 0.086) in the burned plots while Verrucomicrobia were marginally less abundant (p = 0.088, Fig. S5). The relative abundance of Deltaproteobacteria was positively correlated with soil pH ( $r^2 = 0.66$ , Table S11) while the abundance of Betaproteobacteria was positively correlated with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> ( $r^2 = 0.70$ , Table S11). Planctomycetes relative abundance was positively correlated with AGL ( $r^2 = 0.80$ , Table S11) and negatively correlated with  $NO_3^-$  ( $r^2 = -0.77$ , Table S10). Four bacterial families were significantly different in abundance between the burned and control plots of the restored prairie (p < 0.05, Fig. 6). Phaselicystidaceae [Sub-phylum: Deltaproteobacteria] and an unclassified family in Gp5 of Acidobacteria were positively responsive in the burned plots. The families *Opitutaceae* [Phylum: Verrucomicrobia] and an unclassified family in *Planctomycetales* [Phylum: Planctomycetes] were less abundant in the burned plots. *Phaselicystidaceae* and Gp5 [Phylum: Acidobacteria]

were positively correlated with NO3 concentration, pH, and SOM while Opitutaceae was

positively correlated with AGL (Table S12). Both Opitutaceae and Planctomycetales were



Figure 6. Abundance of bacterial families that were differentially abundant in the burned and control plots of the restored prairie 11-months post-fire. Significance was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . P-values were corrected using Storey false discovery rate (p < 0.05).

negatively correlated with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations (Table S12).

## Longer-term Effects of Fire on Soil Properties and Community Composition in the Remnant Prairie

In contrast to the bacterial communities in the restored prairie, the bacterial communities in the remnant prairie were resilient to fire with no lasting effects of the burn event on bacterial community composition (Fig. 5). There were no significant differences in ASV richness and diversity between treatments for the 1-month, 7-months and 11-months post-fire time points (Table S7). However, NAG activity was significantly higher in the burned plots of the remnant 1-month post-fire relative to the control (Table S6). The prescribed fire did not reduce the amount of AGL in the remnant prairie (Table S6) or shift plant community structure and
composition (p = 0.434, Fig. S4, Table S10). The prescribed fire led to a decrease in AGB after one month, but AGB recovered to levels in the control plots 11-months post-fire (Table S6).

Overall, our results indicate that bacterial communities in the restored and remnant prairies exhibited different longer-term responses to prescribed fire. Bacterial communities in the restored prairie were not resilient to the effects of prescribed fire, exhibiting both immediate and long-term changes after the fire. In contrast the bacterial communities in the remnant were mostly resistant to the immediate effects of prescribed fire, and recovered before 1-month postfire.

#### Discussion

# Influences of Spatial Heterogeneity on Soil Bacterial Community Responses in the Restored and Remnant Prairie

Our results indicate that bacterial communities in both the restored and remnant prairie immediately responded to prescribed fire and did not exhibit ecological resistance in community composition. However, the magnitude and types of responses exhibited by communities in each system were fundamentally different. In both prairies, bacterial communities experienced significant in structure 1-day post-fire. These changes in community structure could be due to direct effects of the fire event through soil heating and subsequent bacterial mortality, however this may be a less prominent mechanism due to the low burn intensity of prescribed fires (Valette et al., 1994; Kranz and Whitman, 2019). The change in bacterial community structure in such a short period of time may also be due to bacterial responses to changes in soil edaphic factors mediated by the fire. In both sites, we observed increases in soil pH in the burned plots 1-day post-fire, which is a well-known global driver of bacterial community structure in soils (Lauber et al., 2009; Fultz et al., 2016). This acute response has also been observed in other studies that investigated responses to fire (Fultz et al., 2016; Pérez-Valera et al., 2019), even in the absence of changes in soil edaphic factors (Fultz et al. 2016). This finding lends support to the idea that fire-induced bacterial mortality could have caused the shift in bacterial community structure in both prairie types 1-day post-fire, despite the low intensity burn of the prescribed fire.

While both prairies exhibited immediate shifts in community composition, the results of these shifts were fundamentally different in each site. In the remnant prairie, ASV diversity was higher in burned plots 1-day post-fire, while ASV diversity was higher in the control plots in the restored prairie. The contrasting responses of alpha diversity to the prescribed may be due to differences in the spatial heterogeneity of the soil environment in each prairie. The remnant prairie was never subjected to agricultural practices such as tilling, monocropping, and a uniform application of nutrients, all of which tend to decrease spatial heterogeneity in the soil environment (Röver & Kaiser, 1999). Conversely, the restored prairie had been subjected to these practices for decades. Thus, spatial heterogeneity of the soil environment in the remnant is presumably higher than in the restored prairie due to the legacy of agriculture. The heterogeneity of soil edaphic factors and AGL in the remnant may also have increased in the burned plots. This is based first on our observation of larger confidence intervals for univariate measurements in these plots. The other line of evidence for this is that the higher plant diversity in those plots, likely resulted in more heterogeneous biochar addition across the burned remnant plots (Quigley et al. 2019). Differences in soil spatial heterogeneity in the two prairies are important because higher spatial heterogeneity in the soil environment can be positively correlated with higher bacterial alpha diversity (Curd et al., 2018). Therefore, the dissimilar impacts of fire on the

heterogeneity of the soil environment may have influenced the different responses of bacterial alpha diversity to fire.

How spatial heterogeneity influences microbial communities — and ultimately carbon, nitrogen and other types of nutrient cycling — are factors that land managers may not consider when developing management plans for properties with different land-use histories. Properties with low spatial heterogeneity, such as restored prairies on former agricultural land may produce a more homogenous burn when prescribed fire is applied. However, from a soil health perspective, these systems may benefit from intentionally patchier burns to increase spatial heterogeneity of the soil environment and maximize microbial diversity and function.

# Differential Immediate Functional Responses to Prescribed Fire in the Restored and Remnant Prairies

While bacterial community structure in the remnant prairie immediately changed in response to the prescribed fire, the functional attributes we measured were resistant to the disturbance. In contrast, functional parameters in the restored prairie responded significantly to the fire. This is mostly likely because the prescribed burn significantly reduced AGL in the restored prairie but not in the remnant, resulting in differential indirect effects of fire in the two systems. Reducing AGL in the restored prairie would allow for more UV radiation to reach the soil surface which can result in higher soil temperatures, increasing rates of processes such as nitrogen mineralization and litter decomposition (Raison, 1979; Hulbert, 1988; Ojima et al., 1994; Wang et al., 2017). This likely explains why we observed higher predicted bacterial pathways for amino acid and carbohydrate metabolisms in the burned plots of the restored prairie. Also, many prairie plants increase carbon allocation to roots post-fire (Johnson &

Matchett, 2001; Kitchen et al., 2009) which may also have led to an increase in root exudate production that could stimulate the activity of bacteria in the rhizosphere. We also observed an increase in the abundance of the predicted pathway for nucleotide excision repair in the burned restored plots, which may also have resulted from increased UV radiation at the soil surface, perhaps triggering higher rates of DNA damage in soil bacteria (Goosen & Moolenaar, 2008; Kisker et al., 2013).

In addition to differential functional responses, we only identified positive and negative fire-responsive taxa in the restored prairie, and not in the remnant. For example, Betaproteobacteria responded negatively to fire disturbance, while Verrucomicrobia responded positively. In other systems, Proteobacteria have been shown to exhibit a delayed response to abrupt environmental changes, such as changes to water availability, or due to a fire (Placella et al., 2012; Jurburg et al., 2017) which could explain why we observed a decrease in their relative abundance post-fire in the burned plots. The delayed response to disturbance by Proteobacteria — specifically Beta- and Gammaproteobacteria — is likely due to a lower number of active ribosomes per cell, as compared to organisms that are more resilient to disturbance, such as Verrucomicrobia (Placella et al., 2012). Within the phylum Verrucomicrobia, members of the family Xiphinematobacteraceae exhibited a fourfold increase in relative abundance in the burned plots immediately after the fire, suggesting that this group may either be particularly resilient to fire disturbance and/or that they are capable of rapid responses to new environmental conditions. Little is known about this family, but *Xiphinematobacteraceae* relative abundances were negatively correlated with pathways related to cell division and DNA replication, and positively correlated with pathways for complex carbohydrate metabolism, suggesting traits suited for an oligotrophic life history. This supports findings by Fierer et al. (2013), where Verrucomicrobia

were more abundant in remnant prairie sites and were correlated with traits associated with oligotrophy. In contrast, we identified several negative fire-responders in the restored site, including the family *Flavobacteriaceae*. The decrease in this family is in contrast to other studies that have found this family to be a positive fire responder (Whitman et al., 2019; Adkins et al., 2020). While these studies were conducted in forest ecosystems and examined the longer-term effects of fire, our study provides additional insight into the immediate response of this family to fire in prairies. All bacterial families that were negative fire responders were also positively correlated with putative pathways for cell division. This may suggest that these less fire-tolerant bacterial families, such as *Flavobacteriaceae*, may be adapted for replicating quickly after a disturbance event (Fierer, 2017) and may provide some context into why Whitman et al. (2019) and Adkins et al. (2020) and observed Flavobacteriaceae to be a positive fire responder in the longer-term. Importantly, decreases in bacterial diversity due to prescribed fire may also impact soil carbon and nitrogen cycles by decreasing functional diversity (Wagg et al., 2019). For example, a metanalysis of studies that manipulated soil microbial diversity found that bacterial diversity is positively correlated with litter decomposition and negatively correlated with soil respiration (de Graaff et al., 2015). Shifts in how carbon is cycled in prairies due to fire may then impact the rate at which plant litter is degraded and incorporated.

# Longer-term Resilience in the Remnant Prairie, but not in the Restored Prairie

Bacterial community structure recovered in the burned plots of the remnant prairie within 1-month post-fire, converging on the bacterial communities in the unburned control plots. This indicates that the remnant bacterial communities were resilient to both the direct and indirect effects of prescribed fire within a relatively rapid time period. In contrast, bacterial communities in the restored prairie were not resilient to the effects of fire and did not converge on the community composition present in the control plots within the year-long time period of our study. Soil pH and  $NO_3^{-}$  increased in the burned plots in both prairie systems in our study, which is consistent with the finding that these variables increase after prescribed fires in grassland systems, due to the deposition of alkaline, nitrogen-rich ash from partially combusted plant materials (Picone et al., 2003; Docherty et al., 2012; Alcañiz et al., 2018). However, it was only in the restored prairie that these two variables explained a significant amount of variation in bacterial community composition 11-months post-fire (Fig. 5). At higher levels of taxonomic classification, we observed an increase in the relative abundance of Deltaproteobacteria and a decrease in Planctomycetes 11-months post-fire in the burned plots of the restored prairie. The increase in Deltaproteobacteria may have been related to increases in SOM in the burned plots, coupled with increases in NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> as suggested by (Pérez-Valera et al., 2019). Conversely, we found that Planctomycetes were positively correlated with AGL and negatively correlated with  $NO_3^{-1}$ concentrations. Nitrogen addition has related to decreased Planctomycetes abundances (Ramirez et al., 2012), potentially explaining why they were negatively correlated with  $NO_3^{-}$ . The correlation of Planctomycetes with AGL may also be explained by observations of increased N mineralization rates in prairie soils where plant litter has been removed (Raison, 1979; Hulbert, 1988; Ojima et al., 1994).

We also observed longer-term differences in the relative abundance of certain bacterial families in the restored prairie, but not in the remnant. Bacterial families that increased in abundance were positively correlated with nutrient and SOM levels while those that decreased were negatively correlated. For example, *Phaselicystidaceae* and Acidobacteria: Gp5 have been shown to increase in abundance with higher nutrient levels (Naether et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2020) which supports our finding that they were positively correlated with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. Furthermore,

the order *Myxococcales*, which contains the family *Phaselicystidaceae*, are adapted to soils that have neutral pH levels (Wang et al., 2020; W. Wang et al., 2020) which may explain why this group was more abundant in the burned plots. *Myxococcales* are predatory bacterial group that feed on other bacteria through the secretion of bacteriolytic enzymes (Wang et al., 2020) and have the potential to shift soil bacterial community structure through predation (Morgan et al., 2010; Velicer et al., 2013). As a result, indirect effects of fire on community composition have the potential to create conditions that favor bacterial predation, which in turn directly affects bacterial community composition. However, further work is required in this area to examine the effects of prescribed fire on soil trophic interactions in different systems.

While we also observed similar increases in pH and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in the remnant prairie as well, these changes did not have the long-term impacts on bacterial community structure. There has been some evidence to suggest that bacterial communities in remnant ecosystems, such as in eucalyptus forests which are adapted to fire disturbance, recover more quickly from fire disturbance than bacterial communities found in a highly disturbed community (Prendergast-Miller et al., 2017). Grassland ecosystems are also uniquely adapted to fire, with North American prairies historically burning every few years prior to human-induced fire suppression (Hulbert, 1988; Anderson, 2006). Our results demonstrate that bacterial communities in this paired restored and remnant prairie system do not respond in the same ways to fire, which is likely due to the history of agricultural disturbance in the restored prairie. This history of disturbance in the restoration has likely resulted in a soil bacterial community that is less fire-adapted than in the remnant.

Conducting prescribed burns at the scale used in this study is not without complexity. An alternative explanation of these results is that the restored and remnant prairies may not have

experienced the same level of fire intensity, as evidenced by the minimal litter reduction we observed in the remnant prairie post-fire compared to the restored. However, this difference is also a function of the plant communities present in each prairie. The restored prairie had a much higher abundance of Andropogon gerardii (Big Bluestem grass) than the remnant, which provides higher fuel loads (i.e., litter) than abundant forbs that were present in the remnant. Differences in plant community composition between co-located restored and remnant prairies is a common observation, with many restorations dominated by grasses, and less diverse than remnant neighbors (Ladwig et al., 2018; Newbold et al., 2019). Locating adjacent remnant and restored systems that experience the same weather systems, as well as coordinating a prescribed burn on the same day for both prairies, and implementing burn breaks for control plots, makes for a difficult scientific endeavor. Our study is unique in that it is the only one to our knowledge that examines the short term and longer-term effects of prescribed fire on bacterial community structure and function in a paired remnant and restored prairie. Due to the complexity of the experimental design, our study only represents one restored and one remnant located in southwest Michigan, so further research that includes additional prairies in different geographic location is required to verify these results in other systems. In particular, responses may vary depending on soil types, ecotypes, and for prairies of different restoration ages.

The burn we implemented, and the differences in plant communities and spatial heterogeneity in the remnant and restored prairies that we observed, are all typical of the complexities that land managers face when determining management practices. Our results demonstrate that restored and remnant bacterial communities in this system exhibited fundamentally different short-term and long-term responses to prescribed fire, driven at least in part by a plant-mediated mechanism resulting from past land use history. Land managers must take many considerations into account when creating prescribed fire management plans, including ecosystem type, threatened and game species, and financial constraints (Cohen et al. 2021). Our results suggest that land managers seeking to improve soil health and soil microbial ecosystem resilience may wish to consider different management practices in restorations and remnants. This is particularly true for grasslands in the Great Plains region of North America, where grasslands are still being converted to farmland at a rate of 1-5% (Wright & Wimberly, 2013). Management decisions that improve soil health and increase ecosystem resilience in grasslands are more important than ever, due to the urgency of protecting these ecosystems from the effects of climate change.

## Conclusions

We examined the responses of soil bacterial community composition and function to prescribed fire in a paired restored and remnant prairie system located in southwest Michigan, USA. Communities in the two prairies exhibited different responses to this common management practice. Bacterial communities in the remnant site shifted one day after the fire, but then returned to the original composition in the control within one month. Additionally, no microbial functional parameters shifted in response to the fire, suggesting community resilience and functional resistance in the remnant. In contrast, bacterial communities in restored soils also shifted one day after the fire, particularly affecting the relative abundances of several major bacterial phyla, which allowed us to identify several fire-responsive taxa. This was coupled with shifts in functional parameters, including increased putative pathways for carbohydrate metabolism and decreased pathways for cell division, DNA replication and translation, indicative of shifts toward organisms with oligotrophic life history characteristics. In the longer-term, shifts in the restored prairie continued to be observed 11-months after the prescribed fire, when the study was concluded. We conclude the reasons for the differences in these responses is because the past land-use history of the restored prairie selects for different soil bacterial communities and also a predominance of grass species in the plant community. This grass litter increases fuel loads, enabling more biomass mineralization following a prescribed fire and allowing for more UV exposure and increased soil temperatures. In contrast, more diverse plant communities containing a greater abundance of forbs in the remnant yielded lower fuel loads, reducing the short- and long-term impacts of prescribed fire on soil bacterial communities and functions. Taken together, our results suggest that land managers wishing to restore for soil functional resilience in former agricultural systems will need to consider different land management strategies for restored and remnant systems. This could include different burn frequencies for different systems, or manually manipulating fuel loads in restorations.

# CHAPTER II

# EXPLORING THE EFFECTS OF CARBON ADDITON AND PLANT PRESENCE ON BELOWGROUND RESTORATION IN TWO RECLAIMED PRAIRIES ON DIFFERENT SOIL TYPES

The tallgrass prairie has been largely converted into farmland to support the growth of an ever-growing human population. The destruction of this ecosystem has meant not only the loss of habitat for hundreds of species but also the loss of a major soil carbon sink in North America. Although there have been efforts to restore tallgrass prairies, the focus has been almost exclusively on above-ground restoration. Restoration of the belowground ecosystem services such as carbon sequestration have been largely ignored. To address this, we added carbon addition treatments in the form of pure cellulose and prairie plant biomass as soil amendments with the goal of setting new prairie restorations on a trajectory towards increased carbon storage. We also wanted to determine how plants modulated the effect of the carbon addition treatments. In addition, to determine if these carbon treatments worked on multiple soil types, we set up two restorations on sites with different soil textures. We found that through biomass addition there were increases in metrics related to carbon storage in both prairies when plants were present. Conversely, the response of the soil microbial communities differed in these two restorations in response to carbon addition and the presence of plants suggesting that differences in soil type can set restorations of different trajectories.

# Introduction

Tallgrass prairie restoration and maintenance is one of the major goals for many restoration practitioners in the Midwestern United States (Rowe, 2010). This is due to the almost complete disappearance of prairies from the landscape (Samson & Knopf, 1994) as prairies were converted to farmland following European expansion in the mid-1800's (Bragg & Hulbert, 1976; Telles et al., 2013). As a result of this conversion and cultivation, an estimated 60 % of the soil carbon stocks from this ecosystem were released into the atmosphere (Conant et al., 2017). The ensuing cultivation of these prairie soils altered the soil carbon stores by reducing the amount of carbon protected in soil aggregates, removing deep-rooted native plants, and disrupting soil microbial communities (Dai et al., 2018; Fierer et al., 2013; House & Bever, 2018; West & Six, 2007).

While land managers strive to restore degraded land back to tallgrass prairie, they face an uphill battle because tallgrass prairies are still being converted to farmland with as much as 5% of the remaining prairie being converted to row crop every year (Wright & Wimberly, 2013). Given these daunting statistics, it is imperative to restore these remaining prairies as completely as possible, particularly with respect to soil health and carbon storage. Many prairie restoration efforts have almost exclusively focused on reestablishing visible metrics of restoration, such as the native plant community. While reestablishing these native prairie plant communities is crucial to prairie restoration, as they incur many benefits such as increasing ecological diversity, providing habitat for native pollinators and birds, reducing soil erosion, and many other benefits (e.g. Schulte et al., 2017.; Telles et al., 2013; Werling et al., 2014) belowground soil restoration of prairies should be considered as well. While soil carbon storage in reclaimed prairies is greater than in agricultural land, it falls well short of the carbon storage potential of remnant prairies (Camill et al., 2004). For example, differences in soil carbon storage were observed in the oldest known prairie restoration as compared to an adjacent remnant prairie in Wisconsin, USA where soils in the restored prairie stored 37 % less soil carbon and emitted more  $CO_2$  (Kucharik et al., 2006). Furthermore, it has been shown that the rate of carbon accumulation in reclaimed prairies decreases over time (Bruce et al., 1999; Jastrow, 1996; Kucharik, 2007; Post et al., 2004), eventually leveling out so that no further accumulation occurs after 33 years (West & Six, 2007).

These differences in carbon storage between remnant and restored prairies may be due in part to differences in their microbial communities. Many studies suggest that there is a long-term legacy effect of agriculture on microbial community structure and function in restored prairies (Barber et al., 2017; Fierer et al., 2013; House & Bever, 2018; Jangid et al., 2010; Mackelprang et al., 2018), and that it takes approximately three decades of restoration for microbial communities in restored prairies to approach convergence with those in remnants (e.g. Barber et al., 2017; Duncan et al., 2016; Herzberger et al., 2015), if convergence ever occurs (Jangid et al., 2010). Specifically, prairie remnant bacterial communities tend to have higher abundances of Verrucomicrobia than restored prairies (Barber et al., 2017; Docherty & Gutknecht, 2019). Verrucomicrobia are thought to be a slower growing bacterial phylum and are positively correlated with functional pathways related to carbohydrate metabolism and negatively correlated with pathways for nitrogen metabolism (Fierer et al., 2013). Rhizobia are important symbionts with native legumes which depend on specific rhizobia in the soil to thrive (Poole et al., 2018). Soil fungi, which are significant contributors to soil carbon storage, due to their more efficient use of recalcitrant substrates are also lower in abundance in restored prairies (Treseder, 2016). In particular, mycorrhizal fungi are crucial symbionts with native plant species, so their low abundance can reduce plant restoration success, particularly for late-successional species (Bauer et al., 2020; House & Bever, 2018, 2018; Koziol & Bever, 2017; Middleton & Bever, 2012).

With the knowledge that soil microbial communities and carbon storage differ between remnant and restored prairies, multiple studies have sought to shift the microbial communities and increase carbon stores in restored prairies to benefit restoration success. Many of these studies involve the introduction of mycorrhizal fungi to increase the establishment of late successional prairie plant species and increase plant species richness with great success (e.g. House and Bever, 2018; Koziol and Bever, 2017). Other studies have inoculated new restorations with soil or microorganisms derived from remnant prairies with varying degrees of success (e.g. Docherty & Gutknecht, 2019; Grman et al., 2020; Middleton & Bever, 2012). For example, Middleton and Bever (2012) found that the addition of remnant soil to new prairie restorations increased establishment of later successional plants. In contrast Docherty and Gutknecht (2019) found that extracts of remnant prairie soil did not lead to shifts in the microbial community or other metrics. However, even if successful, removing soil from the few remaining remnants to better restore reclaimed prairies is not feasible on a large scale. What may be a more promising approach is the addition of recalcitrant carbon substrates to the soil to facilitate community shifts by selecting for slow-growing microorganisms that are present in low abundances. For example, Blumenthal et al. (2003) found that soil carbon addition in the form of sawdust can increase biomass of desired prairie plant species while decreasing the biomass of 'weedy' undesirables in a field setting. In a greenhouse study conducted by our research group, cellulose addition to agricultural soil can increase total microbial biomass, fungal-to-bacterial lipid ratios, and shift bacterial communities towards those with higher abundances of slower-growing taxa (i.e. Verrucomicrobia) (Docherty & Gutknecht, 2019). However, carbon addition as pure cellulose microcrystalline is too expensive to implement on a large scale, so it is not a practical solution. These studies provide promising evidence that shifting soil microbial communities by substrate addition can be accomplished, but further research is necessary to determine whether this approach works on all soil types and to develop realistic management recommendations using this approach.

41

The development of microbial restoration methods that work in various soil types has not been a focus in previous studies (e.g. Docherty & Gutknecht, 2019; House & Bever, 2019; Koziol & Bever, 2017; Middleton & Bever, 2012). Differences in soil type can significantly impact the restoration of plant communities, soil microbial communities and overall restoration success (Davidson et al., 2019; Gornish & Santos, 2016), which already varies due to other factors, such as precipitation during the year of restoration, restoration method and plant seed mix applied. (Brudvig et al., 2017). For example, Jangid et al. (2010) found that in two prairie restorations that were established around the same time, were managed in similar ways, but were established on different soil types harbored significantly different microbial communities. Another study found similar results, in which microbial communities in paired prairie restorations were set on different trajectories due to soil type (Bach et al., 2010). Different soil types can have such a large impact because of their different physical and chemical properties (Bach et al., 2010; Singh et al., 2007). Soil clay content can have a large impact on the availability of organic carbon and microbial biomass (Franzluebbers et al., 1996; McLauchlan, 2006) and a higher soil clay content can provide microbes protection from desiccation, fluctuations in pH, and predation (Bushby & Marshall, 1977; Elliott et al., 1980; Stotzky & Rem, 2011). In contrast, coarser soils may have more active microbial communities due to larger pore spaces and increased access to soil organic carbon (Franzluebbers et al., 1996). Ultimately, all these different properties that vary by soil type can have a large impact on restoration in prairies and may influence any carbon-addition experimental results.

The overarching goal of our study is to test whether similar changes in microbial community composition and soil characteristics are observed with additives in newly established restorations on two different soil types. Since cellulose microcrystalline addition was a

promising treatment in a previous study, but unrealistic on a large scale, we compared this additive to the equivalent amount of cellulose added as prairie plant biomass. To address these goals, we conducted two field experiments on different soil types to examine the effects of each carbon addition strategy (cellulose or biomass) over time. Finally, we wanted to determine whether the presence of plants modulates any specific shifts in soil microbial composition, activity or metrics associated with carbon storage, such as respiration, soil organic matter and total carbon concentrations. To address this last goal, we planted the same seed mix at the two different sites, and then weeded one half of each experimental plot to compare results of each addition with and without plants present. We hypothesized (H1) that cellulose and biomass addition would result in similar shifts in both soil characteristics and microbial community composition with increases in metrics related to carbon storage with concurrent increases in fungal and microbial biomass and the relative abundance of Verrucomicrobia, but that the shifts would vary by soil type. We also hypothesized (H2) that the presence of plants would help to modulate shifts in soil characteristics and community composition with the presence of plants resulting in larger shifts. Lastly, we hypothesized (H3) that there would be more shifts in metrics related to carbon storage and the microbial community in the coarse loam than in the fine loam due to the more open pore spaces.

# Methods

# Site Description

This study was conducted in partnership with two land management organizations. We conducted the study from April 2019 to October 2020, with two sites: a prairie conservation corridor at the Edward Lowe Foundation in Cass County, Michigan, USA (Fig. S6) and a whole field prairie restoration in Washington County, Minnesota, USA (Fig. S7). The prairie restoration

in Michigan is located on a Schoolcraft loam (Mollisol) and the Minnesota restoration is located on an Antigo silt-loam (Alfisol). The two soil types differ in texture, where the Schoolcraft loam is a fine loam (i.e. more clay) while the Antigo silt-loam is a coarse loam (i.e. more sand). Throughout the rest of this paper, we will refer to the sites by their soil texture, where the Michigan site is called the "fine loam site" and the Minnesota site is called the "coarse loam site". Mean annual precipitation for Cass County, MI is 978 mm with an average minimum temperature of 4.0°C and an average maximum temperature of 14.83°C (based on 1985-2010; http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov). During the study period, mean annual precipitation was 1024 mm with an average minimum temperature of 4.6°C and an average maximum temperature of 14.9°C. Mean annual precipitation for Washington County, MN is 812 mm with an average minimum temperature of 1.9°C and an average maximum temperature of 12.6°C (based on 1985-2010; http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov). During the study period, mean annual precipitation was 868 mm with an average minimum temperature of 1.9°C and an average maximum temperature of 12.0°C.

# Experimental Design

To examine the effects of carbon substrate additions, we applied carbon to plots in two forms: cellulose microcrystalline and dried *Schizachyrium scoparium* (little bluestem) grass biomass. We also set up control plots which received no carbon additions but were disturbed in the same way as the treatment plots. At each site we set up a split plot design which included 36 total plots (six replicates x three carbon addition treatments x two plant treatments). The main plots (carbon addition treatments) were 1x1 m and were separated by 0.5 m buffer strips within each super plot. Each main plot was divided into two 1 x 0.5 m subplots to which the plant treatment was applied: seeding of prairie seed mix (plants present) and no seeding (plants absent). Plastic garden liner was used to line each 1x1 m plot.

# Carbon Addition

We applied carbon addition in two forms (cellulose microcrystalline and little bluestem biomass) as two treatments to their respective plots on April 28<sup>th</sup>, 2019 (fine loam) and May 15<sup>th</sup>, 2019 (coarse loam). For the cellulose microcrystalline treatment plots, we added 1.125 kg powdered cellulose mixed with 8 L of water to the top ~30 cm of soil. For the biomass treatment we added 2.8 kg of little bluestem biomass (seed heads removed) with 8 L to the top 30 cm of soil. We used 2.8 kg of little bluestem biomass for this treatment because it contains roughly the same amount of cellulose as the amount of cellulose microcrystalline that we added to the cellulose plots (Jefferson et al., 2004). The control treatment consisted of 8 L of water applied to the top 30 cm of soil. To apply each of these treatments to the top 30 cm of soil, we dug each plot to 30 cm and then layered each treatment between layers of soil, adding L of water with 25% of each treatment to each layer, resulting in a total of four layers of treatment mixed into the soil.

### **Plant Treatments**

Directly after the carbon treatments were applied to the soil, we superimposed the plant treatments: plants-present and plants-absent. For the plants-present treatment, we randomized each half-plot and added 250 mL of a prairie seed mix, purchased from Minnesota Native Landscapes, Otsego, MN, USA. The species mix and proportions are described in Fig. S8. We did not seed the plants-absent treatment. After the plant treatments were applied, we added a layer of dried grass biomass as thatch to help retain moisture and protect the seeds. We then maintained the plants-absent treatment by removing seedlings by hand from those sub-plots every three weeks during the growing season to keep the soil bare. After treatments were added to the plots, we installed PVC soil collars into each sub-pot to a height of 4.5 cm from the soil surface to the top of the collar, to be used for soil reparation measurements.

# Soil Sampling

We collected three 10-cm deep x 5.5 cm diameter soil cores from each sub-plot each summer in 2019 and 2020. Specifically, we sampled the fine loam plots on July 8<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> 2019 and August 14, 2020 and the coarse loam plots on July 9<sup>th</sup>, 2019 and September 6<sup>th</sup>, 2020. We cleaned and sterilized corers between plots. We placed the soils from each sub-plot into a single quart-sized zip-sealing plastic bags to create composite cores for each sub-plot. We homogenized the soils and then placed the bags in a cooler on ice until returning to the laboratory at WMU. In total, this yielded 36 samples for each site (fine loam or coarse loam) at each time point.

# Vegetation Sampling and Bulk Density

To determine the effect of the treatments on the plant communities we measured aboveground plant biomass (AGB) and belowground root biomass (BGB) in Summer 2020 only. We measured plant aboveground biomass by clipping shoot biomass from each 1 x 1 m plot and then placing the biomass into paper lawn bags. We air dried the biomass for two weeks in a greenhouse before weighing it. We collected belowground plant biomass from each plot with a 20 cm soil core which was then placed into a paper bag. We air dried soils in the bags and then separated the roots from the dried soils and weighed the roots. We measured soil bulk density of each planted plot by inserting a steel cylinder of known volume into each plot. These soils were then transferred to a paper bag and transported to WMU and dried before calculating the soil bulk density (dry weight • volume <sup>-1</sup>).

#### Soil Respiration Measurements

We measured soil CO<sub>2</sub> flux at each site using a LI-COR 870-01 CO<sub>2</sub>/H<sub>2</sub>O gas analyzer (LI-COR, Lincoln, NE, USA). We measured in the mornings between 8:00 am and 10:00 am (Eastern Daylight Time) to avoid changes in flux as temperatures warmed. We also measured soil flux either before soil sampling or at least a week after soil sampling occurred to avoid changes in CO<sub>2</sub> flux due to soil disturbance.

#### Soil Abiotic Measurements

After collection, we froze all soils at -20°C prior to analysis. On the day of analysis, we removed a 100 g subset of soil which we kept frozen until DNA extraction and phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) analysis could be completed, as described below. We sieved the remaining field soil through a 2 mm sieve and measured soil pH, soil water content (SWC), and soil organic matter (SOM) as described in Docherty and Gutknecht (2019). For soil ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) and nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) analyses, we conducted 2M KCl extractions using 10 g of soil and 50 mL of 2M KCl. Extraction tubes were shaken on a platform shaker for 1 hour at 5000 rpm. We used vacuum filtration through a Whatman GF/F filter (Global Life Sciences Solutions, Marlborough, MA, USA) to collect the filtrate which was then stored in a 20 mL plastic bottle at -20 C prior to analysis. KCl extracts were analyzed for NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations using colorimetric assays measured at 540 nm and 650 nm respectively using an Epoch 96-well plate reader (BioTek, Winooski, VT, USA) (Rhine et al., 1998). We measured potassium permanganate oxidizable carbon (POXc) as described by Weil et al. (2003) to determine the amount of labile (i.e. easily oxidizable) carbon in the soil. Total soil percent soil carbon (% C), total soil percent soil nitrogen (% N), and the ratio of C:N were determined on oven-dried, ground soil samples using combustion analysis (Elementar pyrocube; Elementar Americas, Ronkonkoma, NY, USA).

#### Extracellular Enzyme Activities

We assessed the activity potential of four hydrolytic enzymes using fluorescent-linked substrates to determine how the carbon addition treatments and the presence/absence of plants impacted the extracellular enzyme activities, using the techniques described previously (Docherty & Gutknecht, 2019; German et al., 2011; Gutknecht et al., 2010; Sinsabaugh et al., 2005). We tested for activities of cellobiohydrolase using 4-MUB-cellobioside, β-glucosidase using 4-MUB-β-glucopyranoside, N-acetylglucosaminidase using 4-MUB-N-acetyl-βglucosaminide, and xylosidase using 4-MUB-β-D-xylopyranoside. All substrates for extracellular enzyme assays were purchased from Millipore-Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA).

# Phospholipid Fatty Acid (PLFA) Analysis

We determined total lipid biomass, bacterial lipid biomass, and fungal lipid biomass using PLFA. Analysis was conducted at Regen Ag Lab, LLC (Pleasanton, Nebraska, USA). Phospholipids were extracted from 2 g of freeze-dried soil using a chloroform–methanol–citrate buffer mixture (1:2.5:0.8, v/v/v). The phospholipid fatty acids were then separated by solid phase extraction and methylated. The resulting phospholipids were then identified by gas chromatography (Agilent ChemStation, Wilmington, DE, USA) with a Sherlock microbial identification system (MIDI, Newark, NJ, USA). Total microbial biomass (MB) was calculated as the sum of all lipids <20 carbon atoms in length. Fungal biomass (FB) was calculated as the sum of  $18:2\omega6,9c$  and  $18:1\omega9c$  lipid biomarkers, as described by Frostegard & Baath (1996). Bacterial biomass was calculated as the sum of 13:0 iso, 15:0 iso, 15:0 anteiso,  $16:1 \omega$  7c,  $16:1 \omega$  9c, 17:0 iso, 17:0 anteiso, and  $18:1\omega7c$  lipid biomarkers (Zelles, 1999).

#### DNA Extraction and Sequencing

We extracted genomic DNA with a DNeasy PowerSoil DNA Isolation Kit (Qiagen, Hilden Germany) using 0.25 g of soil according to the manufacturer's instructions. Amplicon preparation and Mi-Seq (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) sequencing was conducted at the Michigan State University Genomics Core Facility. We used two separate paired-end sequencing runs for samples from summer 2019 and summer 2020. The V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene in Bacteria was amplified using primers 515F/806R (Kozich et al., 2013). DNA libraries were normalized using the Invitrogen SequalPrep Normalization Plate Kit -96 well (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), and samples from each replicate plate were pooled into single wells. Pooled samples were quantified using a Kapa Biosystems qPCR kit (Kapa Biosystems, Inc., Wilmington, MA, USA) and samples were normalized to an equal concentration. Each sample pool was loaded on an Illumina Mi-Seq flow cell v2 and sequenced using a 500 (PE250) cycle reagent cartridge. Bases were called using Real Time Analysis (RTA) software v1.18.54, and RTA output was demultiplexed and converted to FASTQ files using Illumina Bc12Fastq v1.8.4.

#### Sequence Processing and Analysis

After the raw sequence data was returned, we cleaned and processed the sequences using the QIIME2 bioinformatics platform version 2020.8 (Bolyen et al., 2019). We used Divisive Amplicon Denoising Algorithm (DADA2) to merge paired reads, filter by sequence quality, denoise, create an Amplicon Sequence Variant (ASV) table, and remove chimeras (Callahan et al., 2017). For DADA2 forward and reverse reads were truncated at the 15th base pair (bp) from the 5<sup>'</sup> end to remove low quality regions of the sequences. From the 3<sup>'</sup> end, the sequences were truncated at the 248th and 200th bp for the forward and reverse reads, respectively. ASVs were taxonomically assigned using the Naïve Bayes Classifier trained on the SILVA version 138, 99% Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU) database (Quast et al., 2013). ASVs that could not be classified at the Phylum taxonomic level or were associated with Archaea, Eukaryotes, mitochondria, or chloroplasts were discarded. After cleanup the number of sequences per sample ranged from 6,914 to 78,408 for 2019 and 16,452 to 45776 for 2020.

To determine if there was an effect of the carbon addition treatments and plant presence on the function of the soil bacterial community in summer 2020, we predicted the metagenomic functional potential of the communities using Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States (PICRUST2) (Douglas et al. 2019). Specifically, we used PICRUST2 to infer MetaCyc metabolic pathways which are hierarchically grouped based on metabolic function (Caspi et al. 2018). We focused our analysis on pathways related to C and Ncompound degradation including: alcohol degradation, amine and polyamine degradation, amino acid degradation, aromatic compound degradation, carbohydrate degradation, carboxylate degradation, fatty acid and lipid degradation, nucleoside and nucleotide degradation, polymeric compound degradation, and secondary metabolite degradation pathways.

#### Data Analysis and Statistics

As is assumed by our experimental design, the bacterial communities in the fine loam and coarse loam sites differed from one another (Figs. S9A, S9B), so our results for soil amendments and plant treatments are presented separately for the two soil types. All analyses were conducted using R (version 3.6.3.). To address H1 and H2, we used linear mixed-effects models with the lmer function in the lme4 package, version 1.1-21 (Bates et al., 2015) to determine if there

were any effects of carbon addition treatments, plant treatments, and if were interactions between treatments. We applied lme to all univariate characteristics that we measured, which included: SOM, SWC, pH, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, POXc, % C, % N, C:N ratio, CO<sub>2</sub> flux, AGB, BGB, soil bulk density, EEAs, Shannon diversity (ASVs), ASV richness, total microbial lipid biomass, fungal lipid biomass, bacterial lipid biomass, relative abundance of the six most abundant bacterial phyla, and functional pathways. Since our experiment includes a split-plot design, block was treated as a random factor in the lme models, while carbon addition treatments and plant treatments were treated as fixed effects. We tested the significance of each fixed effect and their interaction with analysis of variance (ANOVA) and we used the emmeans package, version 1.5.4 (Length, 2021) to determine the pairwise comparison for each treatment level with Tukey adjusted p-values. We qualitatively compared the results of these tests between the two soil types to address H3.

We conducted multivariate statistical analyses using the vegan package, version 2.5-6 (Oksanen et al., 2019) and we visualized multivariate data using principal coordinates analyses (PCoA) and nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS). To further address H1-H2, we determined whether there were differences in bacterial communities due to the different treatments by calculating weighted UniFrac distance matrices ( $\beta$  diversity) (Lozupone & Knight, 2005; McMurdie & Holmes, 2013). We used the adonis function in vegan to determine if there were significant differences between treatments at each site. Again, we qualitatively compared the results from each soil type to address H3.

We used structural equation modeling (SEM) to determine paths underlying the observed effects of treatments on soil and microbial characteristics differed by soil type. We constructed SEMs by comparing biomass addition results to control results in one SEM, and cellulose addition results to control results in a second SEM (H1). We then compared the two SEMs for when plants were either present or absent (H2) and for the two soil types (H3). Since the carbon addition treatments were categorical, we modeled them as binary, i.e., biomass treatment was modeled as 1 and control treatment modeled as 0. SEMs were built using the piecewiseSEM package, version 2.1.0 (Lefcheck, 2016) and the lme4 package. Piecewise SEM is a multivariate statistical technique which incorporates several explanatory and response variables into a single causal network, represented as a set of regression equations (Lefcheck, 2016). This differs from traditional SEMS in which relationships among variables are estimated simultaneously in a single variance-covariance matrix rather than locally as independent regression equations as done in piecewise SEMS. We evaluated the assumption of independence between explanatory variables in our SEMs with the test for directed separation provided in the output of the psem function in the piecewiseSEM package. If explanatory variables were highly correlated, we specified correlated errors between the variables. We then used the Fisher's C test to confirm the goodness of fit of the modelling results. We then modified our models according to the significance of each path, removing paths with p > 0.15 starting with paths with the largest pvalues until all paths had a p < 0.15. Initially, we included the same predictors for the SEMs constructed for the biomass and cellulose treatments for each site.

# Results

Overall, the goal of this study was to determine whether cellulose and biomass addition would shift both soil and microbial characteristics that could potentially set restorations on a path towards higher carbon storage and to determine how plants modulated these effects. Overall, our results demonstrate that cellulose and biomass addition elicited different responses, and that metrics related to carbon storage increased only with biomass addition in both soil types. However, bacterial communities responded differently to the carbon addition treatments in the different soil types, and biomass addition effects were more pronounced in the coarse loam than in the fine loam. There were similar effects of the carbon addition treatments in 2019 and 2020, but they were more pronounced in 2020, while there were few effects of plant presence in 2019 (Tables S12 and S13). Therefore, we focus on the results from 2020 in the remainder of this investigation. We present the results of the overall carbon addition treatments and plant effects first and then in separate sections present the results for when plants were absent and then for when plants were present.

# Fine Loam Soil

#### Fine Loam Overall Carbon Treatment and Plant Effects

There was no overall effect of the carbon addition treatments in the fine loam soil on bacterial community composition, but the presence of plants shifted bacterial communities significantly (Fig. 1A). There were no differences in most soil characteristics between plots with plants absent and plots with plants present except for SOM and POXc which were both higher in the sub-plots with plants present (Table 1). Conversely, there were more differences in soil characteristics between the carbon addition treatments overall. SOM,  $CO_2$  flux, and the C:N ratio were all significantly higher in the biomass plots as compared to the control plots (Table 1). There was a marginal increase in % C in both the cellulose and biomass plots as compared to the control (p = 0.054) and a significant increase in % N in the cellulose plots (Table 1). While there was no overall effect of carbon addition treatment on soil pH and POXc there was a significant interaction between carbon addition and plant presence (p = 0.022 and p = 0.018, respectively). In terms of microbial community characteristics there were no differences in ASV richness, Shannon diversity, total lipid biomass, bacterial lipid biomass, or any EEAs between plots with plants absent vs. present or with the carbon addition treatments (Table 2). However, we did observe significant shifts in community composition. There was 51 % more fungal lipid biomass in the plots with plants present as compared to plots with plants absent, however this was only a marginal increase (p = 0.07, Table 2). Within the bacterial community, the relative abundance of Acidobacteria was higher in plots with plants present (Fig. 2), but no other phyla differed significantly. There were no differences in the predicted functional pathways that we examined between the carbon addition treatments. The pathways involved in nucleotide and nucleoside degradation differed with the presence or absence of plants, where both pathways were more abundant when plants were absent (p = 0.034).

# Carbon Treatment Effects with Plants Absent in the Fine Loam

When plants were absent, the bacterial community composition in the biomass plots differed significantly from both the communities in the control and cellulose plots (p = 0.037; Fig. 1B). There were no differences in the relative abundance of any major bacterial phyla associated with either the biomass or cellulose treatments (Fig. 2). The soil and microbial characteristics between the carbon addition treatments in the sub-plots with plants absent followed similar trends as with the overall treatment effect (Tables 1 and 2). While not significant at the overall treatment level, soil pH was significantly lower in the biomass plots as compared to the control plots (Table 1).

Piecewise structural equation models constructed for the biomass to control comparison (Fig. 3A) and the cellulose to control comparison (Fig. 3B) revealed different effects of the treatments on ASV diversity (Shannon). However, both models indicated that there was a

positive direct relationship between biomass and cellulose addition with soil  $NO_3^-$  and a direct negative relationship between  $NO_3^-$  and Shannon diversity. The biomass model (Fig. 3A) also showed that biomass addition had a direct negative impact on pH and SOM which then both had direct negative impacts on ASV diversity. Conversely, the cellulose model (Fig. 3B) revealed that cellulose addition only impacted ASV diversity through a direct effect on  $NO_3^$ concentration while there was no direct effect of cellulose addition on any of the other soil characteristics.



Figure 7. Ordinations of bacterial communities in the fine loam. Principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) ordinations based on weighted UniFrac distances between bacterial communities in the fine loam soil, identified using 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing. A) Overall carbon addition treatment and plant effects. There is a significant effect of the presence or absence of plants on the communities (p = 0.012) while there is no overall treatment effect (p = 0.169). B) Bacterial communities in plots with plants absent. There is a significant effect of biomass addition on the communities (p = 0.037). The green line represents the ordination space occupied by the biomass plots. C) Bacterial communities in plots with plants absent. There is no treatment effect on the communities p = 0.86). Significance of adonis results was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

Table 1. Results of linear mixed models for soil characteristics in the fine loam. Results of linear-mixed effect models examining the effects of carbon addition (Treatment) and plant presence (Plants) on soil characteristics in the fine loam soil ( $\pm$  SE).

	SOM (%)	CO <sub>2</sub> Flux (µmol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	pН	SWC (%)	NO₃ <sup>-</sup> (ug g soil-¹)	NH₄⁺ (ug g soil⁻¹)	POXc (mg kg soil <sup>-1</sup> )	% C	% N	C:N	Bulk density (g cm <sup>-3</sup> )
p value											
Treatment	0.027	0.012	0.42	0.23	0.42	0.85	0.12	0.054	0.025	0.025	0.088
Plants Present	0.049	0.41	0.38	0.56	0.78	0.11	0.039	0.49	0.7	0.57	NA
Treatment x Plants Present	0.53	0.54	0.022	0.45	0.4	0.35	0.018	0.79	0.65	0.99	NA
Overall Treatment											
Control	3.18±0.08 <b>A</b>	3.80±0.056A	6.47±0.08	14.2±0.45	39.11±8.96	18.6±5.3	493±18.60	1.13±0.084	0.13±0.01A	8.81±0.22 <b>A</b>	1.29±0.063
Cellulose	3.39±0.10AB	4.03±0.18 <b>AB</b>	6.39±0.08	15.0±0.34	35.16±7.76	22.5±5.66	525±22.63	1.28±0.059	0.14±0.01 <b>B</b>	8.9±0.14 <b>AB</b>	1.31±0.035
Biomass	3.58±0.14 <b>B</b>	4.43±0.14 <b>B</b>	6.34±0.07	14.0±0.56	23.49±4.2	22.2±5.08	571 ± 26.92	1.29±0.078	0.14±0.01 <b>AB</b>	9.46±0.20 <b>B</b>	1.15±0.085
Plants											
Plants Absent	3.3±0.07 <b>A</b>	4.02±0.12	6.37±0.07	14.3±0.74	34.5±6.72	159±68.21	518±17.65 <b>A</b>	1.21±0.047	0.134±0.004	9.00±0.15	NA
Plants Present	3.48±0.11 <b>B</b>	4.15±0.14	6.44±0.05	14.5±0.57	30.34±5.53	263±85.14	541±22.23 <b>B</b>	1.25±0.075	0.136±0.006	9.11±0.19	NA
Plants Absent											
Control	3.16±0.08	NS	6.61+0.09 <b>A</b>	NS	NS	NS	503±26.95	1.11±0.081	0.129±0.007	8.76±0.24 A	NA
Cellulose	3.25±0.13	NS	6.28±0.14 <b>AB</b>	NS	NS	NS	495±32.75	1.26±0.053	0.143±0.005	8.85±0.21 <b>AB</b>	NA
Biomass	3.49±0.14	NS	6.21+0.08 <b>B</b>	NS	NS	NS	557±33.11	1.27±0.11	0.132±0.009	9.4±0.27 <b>B</b>	NA
Plants Present											
Control	3.21±0.14A	NS	6.47+0.11	NS	NS	NS	483±25.85 <b>A</b>	1.15±0.16	0.125±0.01	8.87±0.40 <b>A</b>	NA
Cellulose	3.53±0.14 <b>AB</b>	NS	6.39+0.07	NS	NS	NS	555±28.32 <b>AB</b>	1.3±0.11	0.144±0.009	8.96±0.22 <b>AB</b>	NA
Biomass	3.70±0.24 <b>B</b>	NS	6.34+0.09	NS	NS	NS	584±47.39 <b>B</b>	1.31±0.12	0.139±0.013	9.51±0.32 <b>B</b>	NA

SWC: Soil Water Content; SOM: Soil Organic Matter; % C: Percent Total Carbon; % N: Percent Total Nitrogen, C:N: Carbon to nitrogen ratio.; POXc: Permanganate Oxidizable Carbon

**Bolded text** indicates significance at p < 0.05.

Means with the same letters are not significantly different while those with different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05)

57

Table 2. Results of linear-mixed effect models for biotic characteristics in the fine loam. Results of linear-mixed effect models examining the effects of carbon addition (Treatment) and plant presence (Plant Present) on plant and microbial characteristics in the fine loam soil ( $\pm$  SE).

	BGB	AGB			Total MB	Fungal Biomass	Bacterial Biomass	β-glucosidase	Cellobiohydrolase	NAG	Xylosidase
	(g)	(кд)	ASV Richness	ASV Diversity	(nmoi g soil")	(nmoi g soir')	(nmol g soll")	(nmoi nr' g soir')	(nmoi nr' g soir')	(nmoi nr ' g soir ')	(nmoi nr ' g soir ')
p value											
Treatment	0.94	0.34	0.71	0.75	0.30	0.18	0.48	0.81	0.73	0.93	0.86
Plants Present	NA	NA	0.37	0.35	0.19	0.07	0.23	0.13	0.71	0.39	0.19
Treatment x Plants Present	NA	NA	0.51	0.49	0.90	0.76	0.92	0.76	0.13	0.14	0.36
Overall Treatment											
Control	0.153±0.051	372±26.64	658±37.8	6.09±0.08	628±58.8	41.0±9.2	283±33.9	74.1±12.8	49.3±13.8	65.4±20.3	96.7±22.2
Cellulose	0.141±0.035	472±42.98	656±50.9	6.05±0.12	600±86.5	55.1±14.6	306±52.0	83.5±24.9	58.3±15.4	72.0±16.3	93.8±18.3
Biomass	0.135±0.039	420±92.25	613±55.0	6.01±0.12	719±95.7	76.8±22.3	337±52.2	75.0±15.8	49.0±9.9	68.8±14.3	85.6±22.1
Plants											
Plants Absent	NA	NA	620±22.3	6.01±0.06	606±56.0	45.9±8.3	287±31.4	67.2±10.6	50.5±5.6	63.8±8.3	82.4±10.3
Plants Present	NA	NA	665±36.6	6.09±0.08	692±35.7	69.4±10.6	330±20.5	87.8±10.3	53.9±9.1	73.6±11.1	101.7±13.1

ASV: Amplicon sequence variant; MB: Microbial Biomass; NAG: N-acetylglucosaminidase

**Bolded text** indicates significance at p < 0.05.

Means with the same letters are not significantly different while those with different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05)



Figure 8. Bubble plot of bacterial relative abundance in the fine loam. Bubble plot depicting the percent relative abundance of the six most abundant bacterial phyla in the fine loam soil and Letters indicate significant differences between phyla in each treatment grouping. Significance was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

# Carbon Treatment Effects with Plants Present in the Fine Loam

In contrast to the carbon addition treatments with plants absent there were no differences in the bacterial community structure between the carbon addition treatments with plants present (p = 0.86, Fig. 1C). There were also no phyla that significantly differed in relative abundance between the carbon addition treatments with plants present (Fig. 2). Soil and microbial characteristics between the carbon addition treatments in the sub-plots with plants present followed similar trends as with the overall treatment effect (Table 1), except for POXc. Biomass addition increased POXc by 21 % (p = 0.04) as compared to the control while there was no

significant effect on POXc from cellulose addition (Table 1) There were no differences in AGB, BGB, and soil bulk density with either carbon addition treatment (Table 2).



Figure 9. Structural equation models for the fine loam. Structural equation models exploring the effects of the carbon addition treatments on soil and plant characteristics and overall relationship with ASV diversity in the fine loam. Black arrows indicate positive effects and red arrows indicate negative effects. Paths that are significant (p < 0.05) are shown as solid lines while paths that are marginally significant (0.05 ) are shown asdashed lines. Numbers adjacent to lines are standardized path coefficients and conditional R<sup>2</sup>values (based on fixed and random effects) are reported for ASV diversity. All models arewell supported by the data (<math>p > 0.05) and the Fisher's C statistic and p value are shown next to each model. Structural equation modeling revealed that biomass (Fig. 3C) and cellulose (Fig. 3D) explained similar amounts of variation in ASV diversity when plants were present ( $R^2 = 0.46$  and  $R^2 = 0.50$ , respectively). In both models, treatment addition increased SOM, while plant AGB had negatively affected SOM. In the biomass model there were no direct linkages between plant characteristics and treatment while in the cellulose model, cellulose addition had a positive effect on AGB. The biomass model also showed that biomass addition increased the soil C:N ratio which led to an increase in ASV diversity while there was a direct negative effect of biomass addition on ASV diversity. In contrast, the cellulose model indicated that cellulose addition increased SWC which had a negative effect on ASV diversity.

Overall, our results indicate that the presence of plants was more important in structuring the bacterial community in the fine loam soil than either of the carbon addition treatments. However, both carbon addition treatments had a greater impact on soil characteristics, and biomass addition had larger impacts on soil characteristics related to carbon storage than cellulose addition when plants were present. Biomass and cellulose addition also differed in how they impacted ASV diversity which was largely due to different effects on soil characteristics.

#### Coarse Loam Soil

# Coarse Loam Overall Treatment and Plant Effects

There was a significant effect of carbon addition in the form of cellulose on the bacterial communities in the coarse loam (Fig. 4A). There was also a significant effect of the presence of plants on the bacterial communities (Fig. 4A). Whether plants were present or absent in the coarse loam soil had a significant effect on most soil characteristics (Table 3). SOM, CO<sub>2</sub>, pH, SWC, POXc, were all significantly higher in plots with plants present as compared to those with

plants absent, while NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was significantly lower in plots with plants present. There were also significant effects of the carbon addition treatments on the soil characteristics as well which will be elucidated below. In terms of microbial characteristics there were no differences between plots with plants absent vs. present for ASV richness, Shannon diversity, total microbial biomass, bacterial biomass, or activities of any EEAs other than xylosidase activity which was higher in plots with plants absent (Table 4). Conversely, fungal biomass was 81 % higher in the plots with plants present than plots with plants absent (p = 0.002, Table 4). In the bacterial community, relative abundances of Bacteroidetes increased when plants were present (Fig. 5). In terms of predicated functional pathways, the relative abundance of pathways related to alcohol and carbohydrate degradation were higher in plots with plants absent (p = 0.029 and p = 0.041, respectively) while carboxylate degradation was higher in plots with plants present (p = 0.046).



**Figure 10. Ordinations of bacterial communities in the coarse loam.** Principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) ordinations based on weighted UniFrac distances between bacterial communities in the coarse loam soil, identified using 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing. **A**) **Overall carbon addition treatment and plant effects.** There is a significant effect of the presence or absence of plants on the communities (p = 0.001) and a significant treatment effect (p = 0.009) driven by differences between the communities in the cellulose and control plots (p = 0.002). **B**) **Bacterial communities in plots with plants absent.** There is no treatment effect on the communities (p = 0.37). **C**) **Bacterial communities in plots with plants or the cellulose and control by differences between the communities (p = 0.001) driven by differences and control plots (p = 0.001) driven is a significant treatment effect on the communities (p = 0.37). <b>C**) **Bacterial communities in plots with plants absent.** There is a significant treatment effect on the communities (p = 0.001) driven by differences between the communities (p = 0.042). Significance of adonis results was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . The solid blue line represents the ordination space occupied by the cellulose plots where significant.
Table 3. Results of linear-mixed effect models for soil characteristics in the coarse loam. Results of linear-mixed effect models examining the effects of carbon addition (Treatment) and plant presence (Plant Present) on soil characteristics in the coarse loam soil ( $\pm$  SE).

	SOM (%)	CO <sub>2</sub> Flux (umol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	рН	SWC	NO₃ <sup>-</sup> (ug.g.soil-1)	NH4 <sup>+</sup> (ug.g.soil <sup>-1</sup> )	POXc (ma ka soil-1)	% C	% N	C:N	Bulk density
p value	(70)	(µmor 0 02 m 0 )	pri	(70)	(ug g son /	(49.9.561)	(ing kg son )	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		0.11	(g chi )
Treatment	0.004	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.012	< 0.001	<0.001	0.26	0.58	0.01	0.015
Plants Present	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.036	0.023	0.002	0.66	<0.001	0.85	0.35	0.26	NA
Treatment x Plants Present	0.12	0.67	0.7	0.019	0.83	0.71	0.5	0.99	0.75	0.73	NA
Overall Treatment											
Control	2.9±0.048 <b>A</b>	1.77±0.12 <b>A</b>	8.25±0.097A	16.7±0.18 <b>A</b>	13.33±7.99 <b>A</b>	38.5±1.40 <b>A</b>	347±17.05 <b>A</b>	1.01±0.02	0.118±0.002	8.58±0.17 <b>A</b>	1.2±0.020 <b>A</b>
Cellulose	2.83±0.049 <b>A</b>	1.85±0.11 <b>A</b>	7.49±0.056 <b>B</b>	17.1±0.24 <b>A</b>	72.66±40.24 <b>B</b>	47.7±1.21 <b>B</b>	328±12.42 <b>A</b>	1.07±0.06	0.123±0.01	8.62±0.28A	1.2±0.02 <b>A</b>
Biomass	3.08±0.084 <b>B</b>	2.27±0.17 <b>B</b>	7.19±0.11 <b>B</b>	19.4±0.22 <b>B</b>	30.87±8.53 <b>AB</b>	53.2±1.49 <b>B</b>	420±13.54 <b>B</b>	1.16±0.09	0.122±0.01	9.52±0.49 <b>B</b>	1.12±0.03 <b>B</b>
Plants											
Plants Absent	2.83±0.032A	1.6±0.081A	7.67±0.13A	17.4±0.36 <b>A</b>	62.00±26.57A	46.8±1.90	339±13.02A	1.07±0.03	0.123±0.002	8.71±0.12	NA
Plants Present	3.05±0.064 <b>B</b>	2.32±0.085 <b>B</b>	7.59±0.14 <b>B</b>	17.9±0.29 <b>B</b>	15.90±7.88 <b>B</b>	46.1±1.77	391±14.39 <b>B</b>	1.09±0.05	0.119±0.003	9.11±0.28	NA
Plants Absent											
Control	2.82 ± 0.047	1.41 ± 0.10 <b>A</b>	8.27 ± 0.13A	16.4 ± 0.22 <b>A</b>	24.59 ± 15.14	39.2 ± 2.39 <b>A</b>	315 ± 15.93 <b>A</b>	1.01±0.02	0.118±0.002	8.57±0.17	NA
Cellulose	2.76 ± 0.049	1.54 ± 0.079 <b>AB</b>	7.53 ± 0.09 <b>B</b>	16.7 ± 0.29 <b>A</b>	117.25 ± 76.74	48.6 ± 1.95 <b>B</b>	306 ± 11.53 <b>B</b>	1.05±0.04	0.124±0.004	8.47±0.15	NA
Biomass	2.9 ± 0.061	1.85 ± 0.18 <b>B</b>	7.21 ± 0.16 <b>B</b>	19.5 ± 0.21 <b>B</b>	44.16 ± 11.20	52.6 ± 2.90 <b>B</b>	396 ± 19.09 <b>B</b>	1.15±0.06	0.126±0.004	9.09±0.22	NA
Plants Present											
Control	2.97±0.075A	2.13±0.053A	8.23±0.15A	17.0±0.26 <b>A</b>	2.08±1.06A	37.8±1.64 <b>A</b>	380±24.54 <b>A</b>	1.0±0.02	0.117±0.003	8.59±0.19A	NA
Cellulose	2.91±0.078A	2.16±0.11A	7.44±0.075 <b>B</b>	17.6±0.30 <b>A</b>	28.06±20.99 <b>B</b>	46.8±1.51 <b>B</b>	349±19.03A	1.08±0.08	0.123±0.01	8.77±0.15A	NA
Biomass	3.26±0.12 <b>B</b>	2.68±0.15 <b>B</b>	7.1±0.16 <b>B</b>	19.2±0.39 <b>B</b>	17.58±11.14 <b>AB</b>	53.8±1.15 <b>B</b>	444±14.57 <b>B</b>	1.18±0.12	0.118±0.01	9.96±0.63 <b>B</b>	NA

SWC: Soil Water Content; SOM: Soil Organic Matter; % C: Percent Total Carbon; % N: Percent Total Nitrogen, C:N: Carbon to nitrogen ratio; POXc: Permanganate oxidizable carbon.

**Bolded text** indicates significance at p < 0.05.

Means with the same letters are not significantly different while those with different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05)

**Table 4. Results of linear mixed models biotic characteristics in the coarse loam.** Results of linear-mixed effect models examining the effects of carbon addition (Treatment) and plant presence (Plant Present) on plant and microbial characteristics in the coarse loam soil ( $\pm$  SE).

p value	0.14
	0.14
I Irestment 0.02 0.001 0.049 0.012 0.16 0.019 0.26 0.76 0.12 0.23	0.14
Plante Procent NA NA 0.49 0.20 0.60 0.002 0.77 0.14 1 0.0	0.024
Treatment x Plants	0.031
Present NA NA 0.44 0.53 0.06 0.001 0.07 0.88 0.72 0.45	0.11
Overall Treatment	
Control 0.47±0.062A 0.348±0.027A 583±49.2 5.86±0.09A 343±88.5 26.6±9.2AB 142±42.0 34.1±9.4 47.4±11.5 37±15.1	62.1±10.8
Cellulose 0.50±0.09A 0.262±0.019B 696±37.2 6.05±0.06AB 290±66.7 24.1±14.3B 119±36.5 45.3±9.4 48±11.5 51.6±15.1	91.2±10.8
Biomass 0.94±0.17B 0.34±0.035A 701±44.9 6.07±0.07B 384±53.2 42.9±11.8A 146±22.6 58.9±9.4 79.3±11.5 82.6±15.1	88.2±10.8
Plants	
Plants Absent NA NA 648±24.9 5.97±0.05 332±42.7 22.2±5.4 <b>A</b> 133±21.6 51.3±7.2 59.7±7.9 57.0±10.8	91.9±7.8 <b>A</b>
Plants Present NA NA 672±31.8 6.02±0.05 346±40.0 40.2±7.6 <b>B</b> 138±20.6 41.0±7.2 56.7±7.9 57.1±10.8	69.5±7.8 <b>B</b>
Plants Absent	
Control NA NA 541±31.5A 5.79±0.07A 422±103.5 36.3±11.5A 179±51.9 37.8±12.2 45.9±13.4 41.8±18.8	67.2±13.6
Cellulose NA NA 705±19.5B 6.05±0.06B 229±45.5 5.3±0.73B 85.1±16.2 50.5±12.2 51.7±13.4 58.1±18.8	94.3±13.6
Biomass NA NA 697±34.0B 6.07±0.05B 345±45.2 25.3±8.4A 136±20.5 65.5±12.2 81.6±13.4 71.2±18.8	114.2±13.6
Plants Present	
Control NA NA 625±60.2 5.93±0.11 263±63.1 17.0±4.1A 104±25.4 30.4±12.2 49.0±13.4 32.1±18.8	57.1±13.6
Cellulose NA NA 686±51.2 6.05±0.06 351±78.9 42.9±17.6AB 152±47.1 40.1±12.2 44.3±13.4 45.2±18.8	89.3±13.6
Biomass NA NA 706±57.3 6.07±0.09 424±59.8 60.6±8.4 <b>B</b> 156±25.7 52.4±12.2 77.0±13.4 94.1±18.8	62.1±13.6

ASV: Amplicon sequence variant; MB: Microbial Biomass; NAG: N-acetylglucosaminidase

**Bolded text** indicates significance at p < 0.05.

Means with the same letters are not significantly different while those with different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05)



Figure 11. Bubble plot of bacterial relative abundance in the coarse loam. Bubble plot depicting the percent relative abundance of the six most abundant bacterial phyla in the coarse loam soil. Letters indicate significant differences between phyla in each treatment grouping. Significance was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

## Carbon Treatment Effects with Plants Absent in the Coarse Loam

There were no differences in bacterial community structure between the carbon addition treatments with plants absent in the coarse loam soil (p = 0.37, Fig. 4B). While there were no differences in overall community structure there were differences in major bacterial phyla between the carbon addition treatments. Cellulose addition increased the relative abundance of Verrucomicrobia by 20 % (Fig. 5, p = 0.04) as compared to the control. In contrast biomass addition decreased the relative abundance of  $\alpha$ -proteobacteria by 14 % (p = 0.008). Both cellulose and biomass addition increased ASV richness by 30 % and 28 %, respectively (Table 4,

p = 0.046 and p = 0.034) which led to higher ASV diversity as well with both treatments (Table 4). There was no effect of either treatment on total microbial or bacterial biomass while cellulose addition decreased fungal biomass by 85 % (p < 0.001) relative to the control and was also significantly lower as compared to the biomass treatment (Table 4). There was no effect of either treatment on EEAs (Table 4) and there were only small effects on predicted functional pathways with a lower relative abundance for alcohol degradation pathways in the biomass plots (p = 0.031) and a lower relative abundance of pathways for polymeric compound degradation in the cellulose plots (p = 0.026).

There was a significant effect of the carbon addition treatments on most soil characteristics with plants absent except for SOM, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and soil C:N ratio (Table 3). Both biomass and cellulose addition were associated with significant decreases in soil pH and a significant increase in NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentration while biomass addition was related to a significant increase in percent SWC (Table 3). Biomass addition increased POXc by 26 % (p < 0.001) and increased soil CO<sub>2</sub> flux by 30 % (p = 0.03) while there was no effect of cellulose on either of these metrics (Table 3).

Structural equation modeling revealed that there were different effects of soil characteristics on ASV diversity in the biomass and cellulose treatments when plants were absent (Fig. 6A and 6B). The cellulose model explained more variation in ASV diversity than the biomass model ( $R^2 = 0.82$ ,  $R^2 = 0.65$ ; respectively). Biomass addition had positive effects on soil NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and SWC which had positive effects on ASV diversity. In contrast the cellulose model included more paths than the biomass model since microbial biomass (MB) significantly impacted ASV diversity which was not the case in the biomass model. Overall, in the cellulose

model MB was negatively affected by cellulose addition by both direct and indirect effects (Fig.6B). Then ASV diversity was negatively affected by MB but positively affected by NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>.





#### Carbon Treatment Effects with Plants Present in the Coarse Loam

Bacterial community composition in the cellulose plots with plants present differed significantly from the communities in the control plots with plants present (p = 0.042) but not the biomass plots (Fig. 4A). Cellulose addition shifted the relative abundances of several bacterial phyla while there were no effects of biomass addition on these phyla. For example, in the cellulose amended plots the relative abundance of Acidobacteria decreased by 15 % (Fig 5, p =0.04). Conversely, there was a 65 % increase in the relative abundance of Bacteroidetes (p < 1000(0.001) and a 34 % increase in the relative abundance of Verrucomicrobia (p < 0.001). In contrast to when plants were absent there was no significant effect of either carbon addition treatment on ASV richness or Shannon diversity when plants were present (Table 4). Bacterial lipid biomass was not affected by either treatment, but biomass addition increased fungal lipid biomass by 256 % (p = 0.009) while there was no effect of cellulose addition on fungal lipid biomass (Table 4). Biomass addition also increased total lipid biomass with an increase of 61 % which was marginally significant (p = 0.08). There were no differences in EEAs between the carbon addition treatments with plants present (Table 4) while there were some differences in predicted functional pathways. Both biomass and cellulose treatments increased secondary metabolite (p =0.004 and p < 0.001; respectively) and carboxylate degradation (p = 0.047 and p = 0.021; respectively) while only cellulose addition led to a decrease in nucleoside and nucleotide degradation (p = 0.038).

Similar to when plants were absent, when plants were present there was a significant effect of the carbon addition treatments on most soil characteristics (Table 3). Both biomass and cellulose addition increased  $NH_4^+$  concentration and decreased soil pH, but SWC was only higher in the biomass amended plots while  $NO_3^-$  concentration was only higher in the cellulose

plots (Table 3). In contrast to when plants were absent, SOM increased by 10 % (p = 0.004) and the C:N ratio increased by 16 % (p = 0.008) in the biomass plots relative to the control while there was no effect of cellulose addition (Table 3). Biomass addition was associated with a 17% increase in POXc (p = 0.007) and a 26 % increase in CO<sub>2</sub> flux (p = 0.01) relative to the control, while there was no effect of cellulose addition on these metrics. Biomass addition was also associated with a 100% increase in BGB relative to the control (p = 0.03) and significantly decreased soil bulk density while cellulose addition decreased plant AGB by 25 % (p = 0.002; Table 4).

Structural equation models constructed for biomass and cellulose treatments when plants were present explained similar amounts of variation in ASV diversity ( $R^2 = 0.77$  and  $R^2 = 0.85$ , Fig 6 C and D; respectively). In both models, treatment was associated with direct increases in NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentrations, which in turn had a direct negative effect on ASV diversity. Also, in both models plant AGB and BGB positively affected ASV diversity while biomass addition increased BGB and cellulose addition decreased AGB. In the cellulose model only, MB had a positive effect on ASV diversity. In the biomass model BGB had a positive effect on SOM which had a positive effect on ASV diversity (Fig. 6C). Cellulose addition had a directly increased ASV diversity while there was no direct effect of biomass addition on diversity (Fig 6D).

Overall, in the coarse loam soil the presence of plants had a large effect on the structure of the soil bacterial communities and had significant impacts on soil characteristics as well. Conversely, cellulose addition also had a significant impact on the composition of the bacterial communities while biomass addition had a lesser effect. However, biomass addition increased metrics related to carbon storage more than the cellulose addition which had little effect on these metrics. Biomass and cellulose addition also differed in how they impacted ASV diversity both when plants were absent and when they were present mainly due to how they effected soil characteristics.

# Discussion

There were similar but different responses in the two soil types to the carbon addition treatments and plant presence, suggesting that the same treatments may not be able to be universally applied on multiple soil types. In addition, cellulose and plant biomass application yielded different results for both soil and microbial characteristics where biomass addition increased metrics related to carbon storage and cellulose addition had more of an impact on the bacterial community. Conversely, plants modulated the effect of both of the carbon addition treatments on both soil and microbial characteristics with plants increasing carbon storage metrics and leading to shifts in the microbial community.

### Biomass and Cellulose Addition are not Equivalent

Overall, our results suggest that plant biomass addition and cellulose addition are not equivalent soil amendments. We found that in both soil types biomass addition increased metrics related to carbon storage, such as POXc, and SOM, while there were no changes in these metrics with pure cellulose addition one year post restoration. Furthermore, these changes were most evident in the plots where plants were present. We also found that there were more shifts in soil and microbial characteristics in the coarse loam than in the fine loam, but that the shifts in metrics related to carbon storage were similar in both soils. We initially compared pure cellulose and plant biomass because while cellulose addition has been shown to increase SOM storage in an earlier study (Docherty & Gutknect, 2019) it is relatively expensive to implement on a largescale costing at least 30 dollars and ranging upwards of 100 dollars per kilogram depending on

the supplier. In comparison mowed plant biomass is relatively cheap and easy for mangers to come by as they most likely are already mowing prairies and fields on their property for restoration and aesthetic reasons making biomass addition a much more practical approach. Also, it seems that biomass addition may be better, at least in the short-term, at increasing metrics related to carbon storage.

In both soil types, permanganate oxidizable carbon (POXc) significantly increased with biomass addition when plants were present and there were overall greater increases in the coarse loam than in the fine loam. POXc is a measure of the biologically active carbon pool in the soil and represents a more processed and stabilized pool of labile carbon (Culman et al., 2012). According to multiple studies (Culman et al., 2012; Hurisso et al., 2013; Lussier et al., 2020) this makes POXc a good indicator for practices that aim to increase carbon sequestration, such as ours, as POXc is generally more recalcitrant than other forms of labile carbon (Thoumazeau et al., 2020). In addition, the amount of SOM increased with biomass addition which in likely due to a combination of the addition of the biomass itself, but also degraded forms the added biomass and microbial biomass. Cellulose addition did not lead to increases in either POXc or SOM indicating that addition of pure cellulose into reclaimed prairie soils is not effective at increasing metrics related to carbon storage in the short term. Additionally, SEMs showed that biomass addition had a positive effect on SOM in all but one model (Fig. 6A), whereas there was only a single model in which cellulose addition impacted SOM (Fig. 3D) which again suggests that these additions do not have equivalent impacts on soil carbon metrics. The differences in these carbon metrics our two carbon addition treatments are likely due to the higher diversity of substrates produced from decomposing plant biomass vs. degradation products that can result from pure cellulose. For example, the degradation of cellulose is likely to lead to the production

of hemicelluloses and simple sugars such as glucose while plant biomass contains cellulose it also contains a variety of other compounds such as lignin, hemicelluloses, and simple sugars which may result in a more diverse variety of byproducts from their degradation. Another possibility is that the differences we observed are due to a larger amount of carbon added to the soil through the plant biomass addition, as we used 2.8 kg of *Schizachyrium scoparium* (little bluestem) biomass to reach similar concentrations of cellulose into the soil as the cellulose treatment, and not total carbon.

In addition to differences in soil characteristics in the cellulose and biomass treatments we also found that shifts in microbial characteristics varied between the two amendments as well, and that these shifts were more pronounced in the coarse loam. For example, both Verrucomicrobia and Bacteroidetes were more abundant in the cellulose treatment in the coarse loam as compared to the control but there were no changes in the abundance of these bacterial phyla with biomass addition. These observations are in agreement with other studies that have found both Bacteroidetes and Verrucomicobia increase in relative abundance with cellulose addition (Docherty & Gutknecht, 2019; Pepe-Ranney et al., 2016; Štursová et al., 2012). We expected that since the plant biomass that was added to the soil contained roughly equivalent amounts of cellulose as compared to the cellulose treatment that both Verrucomicrobia and Bacteroidetes would also increase in abundance, however that was not the case. Instead, biomass addition did not lead to any shifts in either of these phyla in both soil types. This may be explained by the higher diversity of substrates contained in plant biomass as compared to pure cellulose that may support the growth of more diverse groups of bacteria, but this effect may differ by soil type. Previous work provides evidence that straw addition does not stimulate increased bacterial diversity, but that it supports higher microbial biomass (Ahn et al., 2012; Sun

et al., 2015; Yuan et al., 2013). In agreement with this, our SEMs showed that in the fine loam, both cellulose and biomass addition generally had minimal or negative effects on bacterial diversity, through a variety impacts on soil characteristics. Conversely, in the coarse loam, our SEMs revealed that there were positive effects of biomass and cellulose addition on bacterial diversity, which suggests that the response of bacterial diversity to these additions may be modulated by soil type and the soils inherent characteristics. Even though there were shifts in bacterial community composition with the cellulose treatment, there were very few effects on predicted community functionality, suggesting that while cellulose addition may shift bacterial community composition that the changes does not affect the function of the community. Biomass addition also resulted in very few shifts in predicted community functionality.

In both the coarse and fine loam soils there was a trend towards increased total lipid biomass and fungal lipid biomass with biomass addition in plots where plants were present. However, cellulose addition did not have the same effect. In natural systems fungi dominate the decomposition of more recalcitrant organic matter, such as linin and cellulose (Boer et al., 2005; Güsewell & Gessner, 2009) which may explain why there was a trend towards increased fungal lipid biomass with the biomass addition treatment. This increase in fungal lipid biomass, which was more prominent in the coarse loam, may also have further implications for increased carbon storage, as increased fungal lipid biomass has been associated with increased soil carbon storage potential (Jastrow et al., 2007). The increase in fungal lipid biomass (BGB) which may have also led to increased associations between plant roots and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF). While we did not explicitly examine the prominent lipid biomarker from AMF (16:1 $\omega$ 5c)

(Ngosong et al., 2012) some AMF also produce the biomarker 18:1  $\omega$ 9c (Graham et al., 1995) which we included in calculating fungal biomass.

One concern for land managers who wish to implement these practices to create a climateready prairie restoration is the generation of a priming effect where more soil carbon is emitted as CO<sub>2</sub> than stored in the soil due to increased microbial activity (Fontaine et al., 2011; Fontaine et al., 2004; Fontaine et al., 2004; Wu et al., 2019). However, we did not observe this with the biomass addition treatment as there was an increase in both POXc and SOM both soils when plants were present. While biomass addition likely did lead to a priming effect, the amount of new carbon that was added to the soil may have offset this effect resulting in an increase in the amount of carbon stored in the soil. This has been indicated by other studies in which the addition of plant residues into the soil leads to a priming effect in which old soil organic carbon is mineralized to carbon dioxide, but that the addition of new carbon offsets the loss of older organic carbon (Liang et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2019). Specifically, more than 5 g of biomass input per 100 g of soil has been shown to offset the priming effect (Xu et al., 2019) and while we did not measure the specific biomass to soil ratio we likely added more biomass than needed to offset the PE effect.

# Effects of Plants on Soil and Microbial Characteristics

In both the fine and coarse loam soils plants had an impact on soil characteristics, however the effect of plants on these characteristics were more prominent in the coarse loam soil. In both soils, plants increased metrics related to soil carbon storage with the most notable increases in POXc and SOM. POXc represents a labile carbon pool, so the increases in POXc with the presence of plants may be explained by the accumulation of fresh plant inputs, such as root exudates, and the accumulation of plant litter (Six et al., 2006). Increases in SOM with plants present is also explained in a similar manner because inputs of fresh plant litter can also lead to increases in SOM (Six et al., 2006). Furthermore, plant roots are considered to be hotspots for organic matter formation, as plant roots transfer carbon to the soil through root exudates and dead root biomass (Vidal et al., 2018).

The presence of plants also had a significant effect on soil bacterial communities and other microbial characteristics. In both the fine and coarse loam, the presence of plants shifted the soil bacterial community structure as compared to the plots without plants which would be expected as plants select for communities that are distinct from those found in bulk soil (Turner et al., 2013). In both soil types, there was an increase in the relative abundance of Bacteroidetes and a decrease in the relative abundances of Acidobacteria when plants were present, though these trends were not always significant. Acidobacteria are a thought to be a slower growing bacteria phylum with low max growth rates but high growth yields and high substrate affinity that are more abundant in nutrient-poor bulk soil than in the plant rhizosphere (Fierer et al., 2007). Conversely, Bacteroidetes tend to be more abundant in the rhizosphere than in bulk soil which likely explains why there was an increase in this phyla when plants were present (Vieira, 2018). The presence of plants did not seem to modulate bacterial diversity in either soil type, though SEMs showed that that plant biomass had positive effects on bacterial diversity in the coarse loam with both the biomass and cellulose treatments. There are multiple studies that indicate that there are varying impacts of plants on bacterial diversity (e.g. Baruch et al., 2020; Prashar et al., 2014; Zul et al., 2007), so further research is needed into why these different effects occur but these different effects may be due to in part differences in soil type (Singh et al., 2007).

In addition to differences in the bacterial community, fungal lipid biomass increased in both the fine and coarse loams when plants were present. This increase in fungal biomass is

likely due to higher amounts of root exudates where plants were present as suggested by Eisenhauer et al. (2017) that found increased fungal biomass is linked to increases in root exudates. Also, increases in fugal biomass may be due to associations between AMF and plant roots as well. While we did not explicitly measure plant root biomass in plots where plants were absent, we expect that root biomass was low due to plant exclusion.

# Soil Types

Overall, there were differences with both the carbon addition treatments and the presence or absence of plants in the different soil types. The coarse loam, which is an Alfisol, had greater shifts in both soil and microbial characteristics with the carbon addition treatments than in the fine loam which is a Mollisol. These differences may be partially attributed to differences in clay content in the soils with the fine loam generally having a higher clay content (~16 %) than the coarse loam (~12 %) as higher clay content can lead to slower rates of carbon accumulation (West & Six, 2007). Also, the fine loam soil had more SOM and active carbon (POXc) than the coarse loam soil overall which can also lead to slower rates of carbon accumulation, due to already higher carbon stores, and act as a buffer against changes in other soil characteristics such as pH (Jansen van Rensburg et al., 2009; West & Six, 2007).

The mitigation of the shifts in soil characteristics in the fine loam may explain why we observed fewer shifts in microbial characteristics compared to the coarse loam. For example, there was an overall shift in the bacterial community due to cellulose addition in the coarse loam while there was no overall shift in the bacterial community structure due to either of the carbon addition treatments in the fine loam. This may be because there were larger changes in soil pH,  $NH_4^+$ ,  $NO_3^+$ , and SWC which are important factors that can lead to shifts in bacterial community composition (e.g. Fierer et al., 2012; Lauber et al., 2009). Additionally, higher soil clay content

can protect microbes from predation, changes in pH, and desiccation(Bushby & Marshall, 1977; Elliott et al., 1980; Stotzky & Rem, 2011) which may explain why there were more shifts in bacterial community structure in the coarse loam as well. Soils with higher clay contents can also support more microbial biomass (Franzluebbers et al., 1996) which we observed in our study with there being 83 % more microbial biomass in the fine loam than the coarse loam. This may be explained by differences in clay content but may also be due to different levels of soil carbon pools as well. Our study along with others (e.g. Bach et al., 2010; Jangid et al., 2010) highlights the importance of testing restoration efforts in multiple soils types as different soil types can results in different effects of treatments additions and plants on both soil and microbial characteristics that may potentially set restorations on different trajectories. Overall, similar trends were observed in these similar soils but there were still differences, suggesting that soil types that differ more in texture may result in very different results. In addition, biomass addition may work more on coarse soils with less organic matter than in soils with a finer texture and larger amounts of organic matter, but more work is needed on soil types that vary in both their texture and organic carbon levels to discern these varying effects.

### Implications for Management

Our results demonstrate that the addition of plant biomass into new prairie restorations on two different soil types leads to increases in metrics related to carbon storage (SOM and POXc) when plants are present in a relatively short period of time. This suggests that when installing new prairie restorations on former agricultural land, tilling biomass into the soil before planting may incur similar benefits as observed in our study. While it is unrealistic to expect managers to till plant biomass 30 cm into the soil profile, Ma et al., (2018) found that addition of plant biomass 15 cm into the soil increases soil organic carbon, so this depth could likely be decreased.

Also, the amount of biomass used, 2.8 kg/m<sup>2</sup> of soil, may also be an impediment to implication on larger scales that are normal for prairie restorations. However, less biomass can potentially be used as long as enough biomass is added to offset the priming effect that is likely occurring with biomass addition, but further study is required to determine if the addition of less biomass will work in a prairie setting. While plant biomass addition is a promising strategy for increasing carbon stores in the short term, there were relatively few effects on the microbial community, especially in the fine loam. We do not know if these increases in soil carbon metrics will still be apparent longer-term or if biomass addition will lead to decreases in carbon stocks in the long term, so further study is required as these restorations age.

### REFERENCES

- Adkins, J., Docherty, K.M., Gutknecht, J.L.M., Miesel, J.R. (2020). How do soil microbial communities respond to fire in the intermediate term? Investigating direct and indirect effects associated with fire occurrence and burn severity. Science of The Total Environment 745, 140957. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140957
- Ahn, J.-H., Song, J., Kim, B.-Y., Kim, M.-S., Joa, J.-H., & Weon, H.-Y. (2012). Characterization of the bacterial and archaeal communities in rice field soils subjected to long-term fertilization practices. Journal of Microbiology, 50(5), 754–765. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12275-012-2409-6
- Akburak, S., Son, Y., Makineci, E., Çakir, M.(2018). Impacts of low-intensity prescribed fire on microbial and chemical soil properties in a Quercus frainetto forest. J. For. Res. 29, 687– 696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-017-0486-4</u>
- Alcañiz, M., Outeiro, L., Francos, M., Úbeda, X. (2018). Effects of prescribed fires on soil properties: A review. Science of The Total Environment 613–614, 944–957. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.144
- Allen, M.S., Palmer, M.W. (2011). Fire history of a prairie/forest boundary: more than 250 years of frequent fire in a North American tallgrass prairie: Fire history of a prairie/forest boundary. Journal of Vegetation Science 22, 436–444. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2011.01278.x
- Anderson, M.J. (2006). Distance-Based Tests for Homogeneity of Multivariate Dispersions. Biometrics 62, 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0420.2005.00440.x
- Anderson, R.C. (2006). Evolution and origin of the Central Grassland of North America: climate, fire, and mammalian grazers <sup>1</sup>. The Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society 133, 626– 647. <u>https://doi.org/10.3159/1095-5674(2006)133[626:EAOOTC]2.0.CO;2</u>
- Bach, E. M., Baer, S. G., Meyer, C. K., & Six, J. (2010). Soil texture affects soil microbial and structural recovery during grassland restoration. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 42(12), 2182–2191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.08.014</u>
- Barber, N. A., Chantos-Davidson, K. M., Amel Peralta, R., Sherwood, J. P., & Swingley, W. D.(2017). Soil microbial community composition in tallgrass prairie restorations converge

with remnants across a 27-year chronosequence: Microbial communities in restored prairies. Environmental Microbiology, 19(8), 3118–3131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-</u>2920.13785

- Baruch, Z., Liddicoat, C., Cando-Dumancela, C., Laws, M., Morelli, H., Weinstein, P., Young, J.
   M., & Breed, M. F. (2020). Increased plant species richness associates with greater soil bacterial diversity in urban green spaces. Environmental Research, 110425.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110425</u>
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software, 67(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bauer, J.T., Koziol, L., Bever, J.D. (2020). Local adaptation of mycorrhizae communities changes plant community composition and increases aboveground productivity.
   Oecologia 192, 735–744. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-020-04598-9</u>
- Blumenthal, D. M., Jordan, N. R., & Russelle, M. P. (2003). SOIL CARBON ADDITION CONTROLS WEEDS AND FACILITATES PRAIRIE RESTORATION. Ecological Applications, 13(3), 605–615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-</u> 0761(2003)013[0605:SCACWA]2.0.CO;2
- Bodí, M.B. (2014). Wildland fire ash: Production, composition and eco-hydro-geomorphic effects 25.
- Boer, W. de, Folman, L. B., Summerbell, R. C., & Boddy, L. (2005). Living in a fungal world: Impact of fungi on soil bacterial niche development. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 29(4), 795–811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsre.2004.11.005
- Bolyen, E., Rideout, J.R., Dillon, M.R., Bokulich, N.A., Abnet, C.C., Al-Ghalith, G.A.,
  Alexander, H., Alm, E.J., Arumugam, M., Asnicar, F., Bai, Y., Bisanz, J.E., Bittinger, K.,
  Brejnrod, A., Brislawn, C.J., Brown, C.T., Callahan, B.J., Caraballo-Rodríguez, A.M.,
  Chase, J.,...Caporaso, J.G. (2019). Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible
  microbiome data science using QIIME 2. Nat Biotechnol 37, 852–857.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9
- Bosse, K., Chapel, K., Huang, J., Langeland, G., Li, B. (2016). DEVELOPING A LAND MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR KALAMAZOO NATURE CENTER'S EIGHT

PROPERTIES 269.

- Bowles, M.L., Jones, M.D. (2013). Repeated burning of eastern tallgrass prairie increases richnessand diversity, stabilizing late successional vegetation. Ecological Applications 23, 464–478. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-0808.1
- Bragg, T.B., Hulbert, L.C. (1976). Woody Plant Invasion of Unburned Kansas Bluestem Prairie. Journal of Range Management 29, 19. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3897682</u>
- Bruce, J. P., Frome, M., Haites, E., Janzen, H., Lal, R., & Paustian, K. (1999). Carbon sequestration in soils. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation, 54(1), 382–389.
- Brudvig, L. A., Barak, R. S., Bauer, J. T., Caughlin, T. T., Laughlin, D. C., Larios, L., Matthews,
  J. W., Stuble, K. L., Turley, N. E., & Zirbel, C. R. (2017). Interpreting variation to
  advance predictive restoration science. Journal of Applied Ecology, 54(4), 1018–1027.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12938
- Bushby, H. V. A., & Marshall, K. C. (1977). Water Status of Rhizobia in Relation to their Susceptibility to Desiccation and to their Protection by Montmorillonite. Journal of General Microbiology, 99(1), 19–27. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-99-1-19
- Callahan, B.J., McMurdie, P.J., Holmes, S.P. (2017). Exact sequence variants should replace operational taxonomic units in marker-gene data analysis. ISME J 11, 2639–2643. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.119</u>
- Camill, P., McKone, M. J., Sturges, S. T., Severud, W. J., Ellis, E., Limmer, J., Martin, C. B., Navratil, R. T., Purdie, A. J., Sandel, B. S., Talukder, S., & Trout, A. (2004).
  Community- and Ecosystem-Level Changes in a Species-Rich Tallgrass Prairie Restoration. Ecological Applications, 14(6), 1680–1694. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-5273
- Chapman, K., Brewer, R. (2008). Prairie and savanna in southern lower Michigan: history, classification, ecology. Great Lakes Botanist 47: 1–48.
- Chen, S., Wang, W., Xu, W., Wang, Yang, Wan, H., Chen, D., Tang, Z., Tang, X., Zhou, G., Xie, Z., Zhou, D., Shangguan, Z., Huang, J., He, J.-S., Wang, Yanfen, Sheng, J., Tang, L., Li, X., Dong, M., Wu, Y., Wang, Q., Wang, Z., Wu, J., Chapin, F.S., Bai, Y. (2018).
  Plant diversity enhances productivity and soil carbon storage. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 115, 4027–4032. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1700298114

Cohen, J.G., Wilton, C.M., Enander, H.D., Bassett, T.J. (2021). Assessing the Ecological Need

for Prescribed Fire in Michigan Using GIS-Based Multicriteria Decision Analysis: Igniting Fire Gaps. Diversity 13, 100. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/d13030100</u>

- Collins, S.L. (1987). Interaction of Disturbances in Tallgrass Prairie: A Field Experiment. Ecology 68, 1243–1250. https://doi.org/10.2307/1939208
- Collins, S.L., Calabrese, L.B. (2012). Effects of fire, grazing and topographic variation on vegetation structure in tallgrass prairie. J Veg Sci 23, 563–575. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2011.01369.x
- Conant, R.T., Cerri, C.E.P., Osborne, B.B., Paustian, K. (2017). Grassland management impacts on soil carbon stocks: a new synthesis. Ecol Appl 27, 662–668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1473</u>
- Culman, S. W., Snapp, S. S., Freeman, M. A., Schipanski, M. E., Beniston, J., Lal, R.,
  Drinkwater, L. E., Franzluebbers, A. J., Glover, J. D., Grandy, A. S., Lee, J., Six, J.,
  Maul, J. E., Mirksy, S. B., Spargo, J. T., & Wander, M. M. (2012). Permanganate
  Oxidizable Carbon Reflects a Processed Soil Fraction that is Sensitive to Management.
  Soil Science Society of America Journal, 76(2), 494–504.
  https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2011.0286
- Curd, E.E., Martiny, J.B.H., Li, H., Smith, T.B. (2018). Bacterial diversity is positively correlated with soil heterogeneity. Ecosphere 9, e02079. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2079
- Dai, Z., Su, W., Chen, H., Barberán, A., Zhao, H., Yu, M., Yu, L., Brookes, P.C., Schadt, C.W., Chang, S.X., Xu, J. (2018). Long-term nitrogen fertilization decreases bacterial diversity and favors the growth of Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria in agro-ecosystems across the globe. Global Change Biology 24, 3452–3461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14163</u>
- Davidson, B. E., Germino, M. J., Richardson, B., & Barnard, D. M. (2019). Landscape and organismal factors affecting sagebrush-seedling transplant survival after megafire restoration. Restoration Ecology, 27(5), 1008–1020. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12940
- de Graaff, M.-A., Adkins, J., Kardol, P., Throop, H.L. (2015). A meta-analysis of soil biodiversity impacts on the carbon cycle. SOIL 1, 257–271. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/soil-</u> 1-257-2015
- Dey, D.C., Kabrick, J.M. (n.d). Restoration of Midwestern Oak Woodlands and Savannas.

Restoration of Boreal and Temperate Forests 28.

- Docherty, K.M., Balser, T.C., Bohannan, B.J.M., Gutknecht, J.L.M. (2012). Soil microbial responses to fire and interacting global change factors in a California annual grassland. Biogeochemistry 109, 63–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-011-9654-3
- Docherty, K.M., Gutknecht, J.L.M. (2019). Soil microbial restoration strategies for promoting climate-ready prairie ecosystems. Ecological Applications e01858. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1858
- Docherty, K.M., Whitacre, Z.J. (2021). "Data for: Differential responses of soil bacterial communities to a prescribed fire in a paired restored and remnant prairie system", Mendeley Data, V1. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17632/4w32gzgvsv.1</u>
- Duncan, D. S., Jewell, K. A., Suen, G., & Jackson, R. D. (2016). Detection of short-term cropping system-induced changes to soil bacterial communities differs among four molecular characterization methods. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 96, 160–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.02.002</u>
- Eisenhauer, N., Lanoue, A., Strecker, T., Scheu, S., Steinauer, K., Thakur, M. P., & Mommer, L. (2017). Root biomass and exudates link plant diversity with soil bacterial and fungal biomass. Scientific Reports, 7(1), 44641. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep44641
- Elliott, E. T., Anderson, R. V., Coleman, D. C., & Cole, C. V. (1980). Habitable Pore Space and Microbial Trophic Interactions. Oikos, 35(3), 327–335. https://doi.org/10.2307/3544648
- Field, J.L., Richard, T.L., Smithwick, E.A.H., Cai, H., Laser, M.S., LeBauer, D.S., Long, S.P., Paustian, K., Qin, Z., Sheehan, J.J., Smith, P., Wang, M.Q., Lynd, L.R. (2020). Robust paths to net greenhouse gas mitigation and negative emissions via advanced biofuels. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 117, 21968–21977. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.192087711</u>
- Fierer, N. (2017). Embracing the unknown: disentangling the complexities of the soil microbiome. Nat Rev Microbiol 15, 579–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.87
- Fierer, N., Ladau, J., Clemente, J.C., Leff, J.W., Owens, S.M., Pollard, K.S., Knight, R., Gilbert, J.A., McCulley, R.L. (2013). Reconstructing the Microbial Diversity and Function of Pre-Agricultural Tallgrass Prairie Soils in the United States. Science 342, 621–624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1243768</u>

- Fontaine, S., Henault, C., Aamor, A., Bdioui, N., Bloor, J. M. G., Maire, V., Mary, B., Revaillot, S., & Maron, P. A. (2011). Fungi mediate long term sequestration of carbon and nitrogen in soil through their priming effect. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 43(1), 86–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.09.017
- Fontaine, Sébastien, Bardoux, G., Abbadie, L., & Mariotti, A. (2004). Carbon input to soil may decrease soil carbon content. Ecology Letters, 7(4), 314–320. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00579.x
- Fontaine, Sébastien, Bardoux, G., Benest, D., Verdier, B., Mariotti, A., & Abbadie, L. (2004). Mechanisms of the Priming Effect in a Savannah Soil Amended with Cellulose. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 68(1), 125–131. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2004.1250
- Franzluebbers, A. J., Haney, R. L., Hons, F. M., & Zuberer, D. A. (1996). Active fractions of organic matter in soils with different texture. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 28(10–11), 1367–1372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(96)00143-5</u>
- FrostegArd, A., & BAAth, E. (n.d.). The use of phospholipid fatty acid analysis to estimate bacterial and fungal biomass in soil. 7.
- Fultz, L.M., Moore-Kucera, J., Dathe, J., Davinic, M., Perry, G., Wester, D., Schwilk, D.W., Rideout-Hanzak, S. (2016). Forest wildfire and grassland prescribed fire effects on soil biogeochemical processes and microbial communities: Two case studies in the semi-arid Southwest. Applied Soil Ecology 99, 118–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2015.10.023
- German, D.P., Weintraub, M.N., Grandy, A.S., Lauber, C.L., Rinkes, Z.L., Allison, S.D. (2011).
  Optimization of hydrolytic and oxidative enzyme methods for ecosystem studies. Soil
  Biology and Biochemistry 43, 1387–1397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.03.017
- Giardine, B. (2005). Galaxy: A platform for interactive large-scale genome analysis. Genome Research 15, 1451–1455. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.4086505
- Gibson, D.J., Hulbert, L.C. (1987). Effects of Fire, Topography and Year-to-Year Climatic Variation on Species Composition in Tallgrass Prairie 12.
- Goecks, J., Nekrutenko, A., Taylor, J., Galaxy Team, T. (2010). Galaxy: a comprehensive approach for supporting accessible, reproducible, and transparent computational research

in the life sciences. Genome Biol 11, R86. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2010-11-8-r86

- Goosen, N., Moolenaar, G.F. (2008). Repair of UV damage in bacteria. DNA Repair 7, 353–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2007.09.002
- Gornish, E. S., & Santos, P. A. dos. (2016). Invasive species cover, soil type, and grazing interact to predict long-term grassland restoration success. Restoration Ecology, 24(2), 222–229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12308</u>
- Graham, J. H., Hodge, N. C., & Morton, J. B. (1995). Fatty Acid methyl ester profiles for characterization of glomalean fungi and their endomycorrhizae. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 61(1), 58–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.61.1.58-</u> 64.1995
- Grman, E., Allen, J., Galloway, E., McBride, J., Bauer, J. T., & Price, P. A. (2020). Inoculation with remnant prairie soils increased the growth of three native prairie legumes but not necessarily their associations with beneficial soil microbes. Restoration Ecology, 28(S4), S393–S399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13126</u>
- Güsewell, S., & Gessner, M. O. (2009). N: P ratios influence litter decomposition and colonization by fungi and bacteria in microcosms. Functional Ecology, 23(1), 211–219. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01478.x
- Gutknecht, J.L.M., Henry, H.A.L., Balser, T.C. (2010). Inter-annual variation in soil extracellular enzyme activity in response to simulated global change and fire disturbance. Pedobiologia 53, 283–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2010.02.001
- Guzman, J.G., Al-Kaisi, M.M. (2010). Soil Carbon Dynamics and Carbon Budget of Newly Reconstructed Tall-grass Prairies in South Central Iowa. Journal of Environment Quality 39, 136. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2009.0063
- Hart, S.C., DeLuca, T.H., Newman, G.S., MacKenzie, M.D., Boyle, S.I. (2005). Post-fire vegetative dynamics as drivers of microbial community structure and function in forest soils. Forest Ecology and Management 220, 166–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2005.08.012</u>
- Herzberger, A. J., Meiners, S. J., Towey, J. B., Butts, P. A., & Armstrong, D. L. (2015). Plantmicrobe interactions change along a tallgrass prairie restoration chronosequence: Soil feedbacks in restoration. Restoration Ecology, 23(3), 220–227.

https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12165

- Hoekstra, J.M., Boucher, T.M., Ricketts, T.H., Roberts, C. (2005). Confronting a biome crisis: global disparities of habitat loss and protection. Ecology Letters 8, 23–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00686.x</u>
- Holling, C.S. (1973). Resilience and Stability of Ecological Systems. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 4, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.04.110173.000245
- House, G.L., Bever, J.D. (2018). Disturbance reduces the differentiation of mycorrhizal fungal communities in grasslands along a precipitation gradient. Ecological Applications 28, 736–748. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1681
- House, G.L., Bever, J.D. (2019). Biochar soil amendments in prairie restorations do not interfere with benefits from inoculation with native arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: Soil amendments in prairie restorations. Restoration Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12924
- Hulbert, L.C. (1988). Causes of Fire Effects in Tallgrass Prairie. Ecology 69, 46–58. https://doi.org/10.2307/1943159
- Hurisso, T. T., Norton, J. B., & Norton, U. (2013). Soil profile carbon and nitrogen in prairie, perennial grass–legume mixture and wheat-fallow production in the central High Plains, USA. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 181, 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10.008
- Jangid, K., Williams, M.A., Franzluebbers, A.J., Blair, J.M., Coleman, D.C., Whitman, W.B. (2010). Development of soil microbial communities during tallgrass prairie restoration. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42, 302–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.11.008
- Jansen van Rensburg, H. G., Claassens, A. S., & Beukes, D. J. (2009). Relationships between soil buffer capacity and selected soil properties in a resource-poor farming area in the Mpumalanga Province of South Africa. South African Journal of Plant and Soil, 26(4), 237–243. https://doi.org/10.1080/02571862.2009.10639961
- Jastrow, J. D. (1996). Soil aggregate formation and the accrual of particulate and mineralassociated organic matter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 28(4), 665–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(95)00159-X

- Jastrow, Julie D., Amonette, J. E., & Bailey, V. L. (2007). Mechanisms controlling soil carbon turnover and their potential application for enhancing carbon sequestration. Climatic Change, 80(1), 5–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9178-3</u>
- Jefferson, P. G., McCaughey, W. P., May, K., Woosaree, J., & McFarlane, L. (2004). Potential utilization of native prairie grasses from western Canada as ethanol feedstock. Canadian Journal of Plant Science, 84(4), 1067–1075. https://doi.org/10.4141/P03-157
- Johnson, L.C., Matchett, J.R. (2001). FIRE AND GRAZING REGULATE BELOWGROUND PROCESSES IN TALLGRASS PRAIRIE 82, 13.
- Kenyon, S. (2008). 01MichiganBotanist 47, 48.
- Kisker, C., Kuper, J., Van Houten, B. (2013). Prokaryotic Nucleotide Excision Repair. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 5. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a012591
- Kitchen, D.J., Blair, J.M., Callaham, M.A. (2009). Annual fire and mowing alter biomass, depth distribution, and C and N content of roots and soil in tallgrass prairie. Plant Soil 323, 235–247. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-9931-2
- Koper, N., Mozel, K.E., Henderson, D.C. (2010). Recent declines in northern tall-grass prairies and effects of patch structure on community persistence. Biological Conservation 143, 220–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2009.10.006
- Kozich, J.J., Westcott, S.L., Baxter, N.T., Highlander, S.K., Schloss, P.D. (2013). Development of a Dual-Index Sequencing Strategy and Curation Pipeline for Analyzing Amplicon Sequence Data on the MiSeq Illumina Sequencing Platform. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79, 5112–5120. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01043-13
- Koziol, L., Bever, J.D. (2017). The missing link in grassland restoration: arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi inoculation increases plant diversity and accelerates succession. Journal of Applied Ecology 54, 1301–1309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12843</u>
- Kranz, C., Whitman, T. (2019). Short communication: Surface charring from prescribed burning has minimal effects on soil bacterial community composition two weeks post-fire in jack pine barrens. Applied Soil Ecology 144, 134–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2019.07.004</u>
- Kucharik, C. J. (2007). Impact of Prairie Age and Soil Order on Carbon and Nitrogen Sequestration. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 71(2), 430.

https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2006.0074

- Kucharik, C.J., Fayram, N.J., Cahill, K.N. (2006). A paired study of prairie carbon stocks, fluxes, and phenology: comparing the world's oldest prairie restoration with an adjacent remnant. Global Change Biology 12, 122–139. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.01053.x
- Ladwig, L.M., Damschen, E.I., Rogers, D.A. (2018). Sixty years of community change in the prairie–savanna–forest mosaic of Wisconsin. Ecol Evol 8, 8458–8466. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4251
- Ladwig, L.M., Zirbel, C.R., Sorenson, Q.M., Damschen, E.I. (2020). A taxonomic, phylogenetic, and functional comparison of restoration seed mixes and historical plant communities in Midwestern oak savannas. Forest Ecology and Management 466, 118122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118122
- Lange, M., Eisenhauer, N., Sierra, C.A., Bessler, H., Engels, C., Griffiths, R.I., Mellado-Vázquez, P.G., Malik, A.A., Roy, J., Scheu, S., Steinbeiss, S., Thomson, B.C., Trumbore, S.E., Gleixner, G. (2015). Plant diversity increases soil microbial activity and soil carbon storage. Nature Communications 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7707
- Langille, M.G.I., Zaneveld, J., Caporaso, J.G., McDonald, D., Knights, D., Reyes, J.A.,
  Clemente, J.C., Burkepile, D.E., Vega Thurber, R.L., Knight, R., Beiko, R.G.,
  Huttenhower, C. (2013). Predictive functional profiling of microbial communities using
  16S rRNA marker gene sequences. Nat Biotechnol 31, 814–821.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2676
- Lauber, C.L., Hamady, M., Knight, R., Fierer, N. (2009). Pyrosequencing-Based Assessment of Soil pH as a Predictor of Soil Bacterial Community Structure at the Continental Scale.
  Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75, 5111–5120.
  https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00335-09
- Legendre P, Legendre LFJ. (2012). Numerical Ecology. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Liang, J., Zhou, Z., Huo, C., Shi, Z., Cole, J. R., Huang, L., Konstantinidis, K. T., Li, X., Liu, B., Luo, Z., Penton, C. R., Schuur, E. A. G., Tiedje, J. M., Wang, Y.-P., Wu, L., Xia, J.,
- Zhou, J., & Luo, Y. (2018). More replenishment than priming loss of soil organic carbon with additional carbon input. Nature Communications, 9(1), 3175.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05667-7

- Lozupone, C., & Knight, R. (2005). UniFrac: A New Phylogenetic Method for Comparing Microbial Communities. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71(12), 8228–8235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.12.8228-8235.2005</u>
- Lussier, J. M., Krzic, M., Smukler, S. M., Neufeld, K. R., Chizen, C. J., Bomke, A. A., Lussier, J. M., Krzic, M., Smukler, S. M., Neufeld, K. R., Chizen, C. J., & Bomke, A. A. (2020).
  Labile soil carbon fractions as indicators of soil quality improvement under short-term grassland set-aside. Soil Research, 58(4), 364–370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/SR19180</u>
- Ma, S., Verheyen, K., Props, R., Wasof, S., Vanhellemont, M., Boeckx, P., Boon, N., & De Frenne, P. (2018). Plant and soil microbe responses to light, warming and nitrogen addition in a temperate forest. Functional Ecology, 32(5), 1293–1303. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13061
- Mackelprang, R., Grube, A.M., Lamendella, R., Jesus, E. da C., Copeland, A., Liang, C.,
  Jackson, R.D., Rice, C.W., Kapucija, S., Parsa, B., Tringe, S.G., Tiedje, J.M., Jansson,
  J.K. (2018). Microbial Community Structure and Functional Potential in Cultivated and
  Native Tallgrass Prairie Soils of the Midwestern United States. Frontiers in Microbiology
  9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01775
- Martin, L.M., Moloney, K.A., Wilsey, B.J. (2005). An assessment of grassland restoration success using species diversity components: Community structure of restored tallgrass prairie. Journal of Applied Ecology 42, 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2005.01019.x
- Mazzilli, S. R., Kemanian, A. R., Ernst, O. R., Jackson, R. B., & Piñeiro, G. (2015). Greater humification of belowground than aboveground biomass carbon into particulate soil organic matter in no-till corn and soybean crops. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 85, 22– 30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.02.014</u>
- McLauchlan, K. (2006). The Nature and Longevity of Agricultural Impacts on Soil Carbon and Nutrients: A Review. Ecosystems, 9(8), 1364–1382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-005-</u> 0135-1
- McLachlan, S.M., Knispel, A.L. (2005). Assessment of long-term tallgrass prairie restoration in Manitoba, Canada. Biological Conservation 124, 75–88.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.01.014

- McMurdie, P. J., & Holmes, S. (2013). phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. PLOS ONE, 8(4), e61217. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061217
- Michigan Natural Features Inventory (MNFI). MI Vegetation circa 1800 Viewer. Available online: https://arcg.is/1H9PXG (accessed 3/9/2021).
- Middleton, E. L., & Bever, J. D. (2012). Inoculation with a Native Soil Community Advances Succession in a Grassland Restoration. Restoration Ecology, 20(2), 218–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2010.00752.x</u>
- Morgan, A.D., MacLean, R.C., Hillesland, K.L., Velicer, G.J. (2010). Comparative Analysis of Myxococcus Predation on Soil Bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 6920–6927. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00414-10
- Naether, A., Foesel, B.U., Naegele, V., Wüst, P.K., Weinert, J., Bonkowski, M., Alt, F.,
  Oelmann, Y., Polle, A., Lohaus, G., Gockel, S., Hemp, A., Kalko, E.K.V., Linsenmair,
  K.E., Pfeiffer, S., Renner, S., Schöning, I., Weisser, W.W., Wells, K., Fischer, M.,
  Overmann, J., Friedrich, M.W. (2012). Environmental Factors Affect Acidobacterial
  Communities below the Subgroup Level in Grassland and Forest Soils. Appl. Environ.
  Microbiol. 78, 7398–7406. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01325-12
- Newbold, C., Knapp, B.O., Pile, L.S. (2019). Are we close enough? Comparing prairie reconstruction chronosequences to remnants following two site preparation methods in Missouri, U.S.A. Restor Ecol rec.13078. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13078</u>
- Ngosong, C., Gabriel, E., & Ruess, L. (2012). Use of the Signature Fatty Acid 16:1 ω 5 as a Tool to Determine the Distribution of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Soil. Journal of Lipids, 2012, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/236807
- Nuzzo, V.A. (1985). Extent and Status of Midwest Oak Savanna: Presettlement and 1985 32.
- Ojima, D.S., Schimel, D.S., Parton, W.J., Owensby, C.E. (1994). Long- and short-term effects of fire on nitrogen cycling in tallgrass prairie. Biogeochemistry 24, 67–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02390180
- Oksanen, J., et al. (2019). Community Ecology Package "vegan", version 2.5-6. <u>https://cran.r-</u>project.org/web/packages/vegan/vegan.pdf

- Parks, D.H., Tyson, G.W., Hugenholtz, P., Beiko, R.G. (2014). STAMP: statistical analysis of taxonomic and functional profiles. Bioinformatics 30, 3123–3124. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu494
- Pebesma, E., Bivand, R. S. (2005). Classes and Methods for Spatial Data: The sp Package. 21.
- Pepe-Ranney, C., Campbell, A. N., Koechli, C. N., Berthrong, S., & Buckley, D. H. (2016). Unearthing the Ecology of Soil Microorganisms Using a High Resolution DNA-SIP Approach to Explore Cellulose and Xylose Metabolism in Soil. Frontiers in Microbiology, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00703</u>
- Pérez-Valera, E., Goberna, M., Verdú, M. (2019). Fire modulates ecosystem functioning through the phylogenetic structure of soil bacterial communities. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 129, 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.11.007
- Picone, L.I., Quaglia, G., Laterra, P. (2003). Biological and chemical response of a grassland soil to burning. JOURNAL OF RANGE MANAGEMENT 8.
- Placella, S.A., Brodie, E.L., Firestone, M.K. (2012). Rainfall-induced carbon dioxide pulses result from sequential resuscitation of phylogenetically clustered microbial groups. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 10931–10936. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1204306109
- Polley, H.W., Derner, J.D., Wilsey, B.J. (2005). Patterns of Plant Species Diversity in Remnant and Restored Tallgrass Prairies. Restor Ecology 13, 480–487. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2005.00060.x
- Poole, P., Ramachandran, V., & Terpolilli, J. (2018). Rhizobia: From saprophytes to endosymbionts. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 16(5), 291–303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.171</u>
- Post, W. M., Izaurralde, R. C., Jastrow, J. D., McCarl, B. A., Amonette, J. E., Bailey, V. L., Jardine, P. M., West, T. O., & Zhou, J. (2004). Enhancement of Carbon Sequestration in US Soils. BioScience, 54(10), 895–908. <u>https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-</u> 3568(2004)054[0895:EOCSIU]2.0.CO;2
- Prashar, P., Kapoor, N., & Sachdeva, S. (2014). Rhizosphere: Its structure, bacterial diversity and significance. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol, 15.
- Prendergast-Miller, M.T., de Menezes, A.B., Macdonald, L.M., Toscas, P., Bissett, A., Baker,

G., Farrell, M., Richardson, A.E., Wark, T., Thrall, P.H. (2017). Wildfire impact: Natural experiment reveals differential short-term changes in soil microbial communities. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 109, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.01.027

- Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., Peplies, J., Glöckner, F.O. (2012). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. Nucleic Acids Research 41, D590–D596. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219
- Quigley, K.M., Wildt, R.E., Sturtevant, B.R., Kolka, R.K., Dickinson, M.B., Kern, C.C., Donner, D.M., Miesel, J.R. (2019). Fuels, vegetation, and prescribed fire dynamics influence ash production and characteristics in a diverse landscape under active pine barrens restoration. fire ecol 15, 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42408-018-0015-7
- R Core Team (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing v.3.6.3: Vienna, Austria. URL <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>.
- Raison, R.J. (1979). Modification of the soil environment by vegetation fires, with particular reference to nitrogen transformations: A review. Plant Soil 51, 73–108. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02205929
- Ramirez, K.S., Craine, J.M., Fierer, N. (2012). Consistent effects of nitrogen amendments on soil microbial communities and processes across biomes. Global Change Biology 18, 1918– 1927. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02639.x
- Rhine, E.D., Mulvaney, R.L., Pratt, E.J., Sims, G.K. (1998). Improving the Berthelot Reaction for Determining Ammonium in Soil Extracts and Water. Soil Science Society of America Journal 62, 473–480. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1998.03615995006200020026x
- Röver, M., Kaiser, E.-A. (1999). Spatial heterogeneity within the plough layer: low and moderate variability of soil properties. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 31, 175–187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(97)00272-1</u>
- Rowe, H. I. (2010). Tricks of the Trade: Techniques and Opinions from 38 Experts in Tallgrass Prairie Restoration. Restoration Ecology, 18, 253–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-</u> 100X.2010.00663.x
- Samson, F., Knopf, F. (1994). Prairie Conservation in North America. BioScience 44, 418–421. https://doi.org/10.2307/1312365

- Santonja, M., Rancon, A., Fromin, N., Baldy, V., Hättenschwiler, S., Fernandez, C., Montès, N., Mirleau, P. (2017). Plant litter diversity increases microbial abundance, fungal diversity, and carbon and nitrogen cycling in a Mediterranean shrubland. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 111, 124–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.04.006
- Schimel, J.P., Schaeffer, S.M. (2012). Microbial control over carbon cycling in soil. Frontiers in Microbiology 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2012.00348</u>
- Schulte, L. A., Niemi, J., Helmers, M. J., Liebman, M., Arbuckle, J. G., James, D. E., Kolka, R. K., Neal, J., Ryswyk, G. V., & Witte, C. (2017). Prairie strips improve biodiversity and the delivery of multiple ecosystem services from corn–soybean croplands. 7.
- Singh, B. K., Munro, S., Potts, J. M., & Millard, P. (2007). Influence of grass species and soil type on rhizosphere microbial community structure in grassland soils. Applied Soil Ecology, 36(2–3), 147–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2007.01.004
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., Gallo, M.E., Lauber, C., Waldrop, M.P., Zak, D.R. (2005). Extracellular Enzyme Activities and Soil Organic Matter Dynamics for Northern Hardwood Forests receiving Simulated Nitrogen Deposition. Biogeochemistry 75, 201–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-004-7112-1</u>
- Six, J., Conant, R. T., Paul, E. A., & Paustian, K. (2006). Stabilization mechanisms of soil organic matter: Implications for C-saturation of soils. 22.
- Stotzky, G., & Rem, L. T. (2011). INFLUENCE OF CLAY MINERALS ON MICROORGANISMS: I. MONTMORILLONITE AND KAOLINITE ON BACTERIA. Canadian Journal of Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1139/m66-078
- Strong, A.L., Johnson, T.P., Chiariello, N.R., Field, C.B. (2017). Experimental fire increases soil carbon dioxide efflux in a grassland long-term multifactor global change experiment. Glob Change Biol 23, 1975–1987. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13525
- Štursová, M., Žifčáková, L., Leigh, M. B., Burgess, R., & Baldrian, P. (2012). Cellulose utilization in forest litter and soil: Identification of bacterial and fungal decomposers. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 80(3), 735–746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01343.x</u>
- Sun, R., Zhang, X.-X., Guo, X., Wang, D., & Chu, H. (2015). Bacterial diversity in soils subjected to long-term chemical fertilization can be more stably maintained with the

addition of livestock manure than wheat straw. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 88, 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.05.007

- Telles, T. S., Dechen, S. C. F., Souza, L. G. A. de, & Guimarães, M. de F. (2013). Valuation and assessment of soil erosion costs. Scientia Agricola, 70(3), 209–216. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0103-90162013000300010
- Tester, J.R. (1989). Effects of Fire Frequency on Oak Savanna in East-Central Minnesota. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 116, 134. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2997196</u>
- Thoumazeau, A., Chevallier, T., Baron, V., Rakotondrazafy, N., Panklang, P., Marichal, R., Kibblewhite, M., Sebag, D., Tivet, F., Bessou, C., Gay, F., & Brauman, A. (2020). A new in-field indicator to assess the impact of land management on soil carbon dynamics. Geoderma, 375, 114496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2020.114496</u>
- Treseder, K. K. (2016). Model behavior of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: Predicting soil carbon dynamics under climate change1. Botany. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/cjb-2015-0245</u>
- Turner, T. R., Ramakrishnan, K., Walshaw, J., Heavens, D., Alston, M., Swarbreck, D., Osbourn, A., Grant, A., & Poole, P. S. (2013). Comparative metatranscriptomics reveals kingdom level changes in the rhizosphere microbiome of plants. The ISME Journal, 7(12), 2248–2258. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.119
- Valette, J., Gomendy, V., Marechal, J., Houssard, C., Gillon, D. (1994). Heat-Transfer in the Soil During Very Low-Intensity Experimental Fires - the Role of Duff and Soil-Moisture Content. Int. J. Wildland Fire 4, 225. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF9940225
- Vega, J.A., Fontúrbel, T., Merino, A., Fernández, C., Ferreiro, A., Jiménez, E. (2013). Testing the ability of visual indicators of soil burn severity to reflect changes in soil chemical and microbial properties in pine forests and shrubland. Plant Soil 369, 73–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1532-9
- Velicer, G.J., Mendes-Soares, H., Wielgoss, S. (2013). 1 Whence comes Social Diversity? Ecological and Evolutionary Analysis of the Myxobacteria 30.
- Vidal, A., Hirte, J., Bender, S. F., Mayer, J., Gattinger, A., Höschen, C., Schädler, S., Iqbal, T.
   M., & Mueller, C. W. (2018). Linking 3D Soil Structure and Plant-Microbe-Soil Carbon Transfer in the Rhizosphere. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 6.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2018.00009">https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2018.00009</a>

- Vieira, S. (n.d.). Drivers of the composition of active rhizosphere bacterial communities in temperate grasslands. 13.
- Wang, C., Lv, Y., Li, A., Yao, Q., Feng, G., Zhu, H. (2020). Culture-dependent and -independent methods revealed an abundant myxobacterial community shaped by other bacteria and pH in Dinghushan acidic soils. PLOS ONE 15, e0238769. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238769
- Wang, C., Wang, G., Wang, Y., Rafique, R., Ma, L., Hu, L., Luo, Y. (2016). Fire Alters
  Vegetation and Soil Microbial Community in Alpine Meadow. Land Degrad. Develop.
  27, 1379–1390. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.2367
- Wang, J., Yang, S., Zhang, B., Liu, W., Deng, M., Chen, S., Liu, L. (2017). Temporal dynamics of ultraviolet radiation impacts on litter decomposition in a semi-arid ecosystem. Plant Soil 419, 71–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-017-3290-1
- Wang, W., Luo, X., Ye, X., Chen, Y., Wang, H., Wang, L., Wang, Y., Yang, Y., Li, Z., Cao, H., Cui, Z. (2020). Predatory Myxococcales are widely distributed in and closely correlated with the bacterial community structure of agricultural land. Applied Soil Ecology 146, 103365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2019.103365</u>
- Werling, B. P., Dickson, T. L., Isaacs, R., Gaines, H., Gratton, C., Gross, K. L., Liere, H., Malmstrom, C. M., Meehan, T. D., Ruan, L., Robertson, B. A., Robertson, G. P., Schmidt, T. M., Schrotenboer, A. C., Teal, T. K., Wilson, J. K., & Landis, D. A. (2014). Perennial grasslands enhance biodiversity and multiple ecosystem services in bioenergy landscapes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111(4), 1652–1657. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1309492111
- West, T.O., Six, J. (2007). Considering the influence of sequestration duration and carbon saturation on estimates of soil carbon capacity. Climatic Change 80, 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9173-8
- Whitman, T., Whitman, E., Woolet, J., Flannigan, M.D., Thompson, D.K., Parisien, M.-A. (2019). Soil bacterial and fungal response to wildfires in the Canadian boreal forest across a burn severity gradient. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 138, 107571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2019.107571

Whitman, T., Pepe-Ranney, C., Enders, A., Koechli, C., Campbell, A., Buckley, D. H.,

Lehmann, J. (2016). Dynamics of microbial community composition and soil organic carbon mineralization in soil following addition of pyrogenic and fresh organic matter. The ISME Journal 10, 2918–2930. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2016.68</u>

- Wright, C.K., Wimberly, M.C. (2013). Recent land use change in the Western Corn Belt threatens grasslands and wetlands. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 110, 4134–4139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1215404110</u>
- Wu, L., Zhang, W., Wei, W., He, Z., Kuzyakov, Y., Bol, R., & Hu, R. (2019). Soil organic matter priming and carbon balance after straw addition is regulated by long-term fertilization. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 135, 383–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2019.06.003
- Xu, X., An, T., Zhang, J., Sun, Z., Schaeffer, S., & Wang, J. (2019). Transformation and stabilization of straw residue carbon in soil affected by soil types, maize straw addition and fertilized levels of soil. Geoderma, 337, 622–629. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2018.08.018
- Yuan, H., Ge, T., Zhou, P., Liu, S., Roberts, P., Zhu, H., Zou, Z., Tong, C., & Wu, J. (2013). Soil microbial biomass and bacterial and fungal community structures responses to long-term fertilization in paddy soils. Journal of Soils and Sediments, 13(5), 877–886. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-013-0664-8
- Zelles, L. (1999). Fatty acid patterns of phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides in the characterisation of microbial communities in soil: A review. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 29(2), 111–129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740050533
- Zul, D., Denzel, S., Kotz, A., & Overmann, J. (2007). Effects of Plant Biomass, Plant Diversity, and Water Content on Bacterial Communities in Soil Lysimeters: Implications for the Determinants of Bacterial Diversity. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 73(21), 6916–6929. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01533-07

#### APPENDIX A

# Supplemental Information for Chapter 1

Supplementary Methods: We conducted a priori analyses to ensure that underlying variation would not influence experimental results. Prior to burning, we examined the soil edaphic factors and the soil bacterial communities in all our plots to make sure that the control (plots left unburned) and experimental plots (to be burned) were not substantially different due to underlying variation in each prairie. Overall, we did not find any differences between the control and experimental plots in either prairie before the prescribed burn occurred. Briefly, we examined the Shannon diversity Index, ASV richness, and bacterial community structure using the methods stated in the main text. We also tested whether within-treatment community variation differed between control (unburned) and (experimental) burned plots pre-fire using the betadisper function in R (Anderson, 2006). We also determined whether plots that were closer together had more similar bacterial communities than plots that are more spatially distant. Distance matrices based on plot GPS coordinates were generated using the spDists command in the sp v1.4-1 package (Pebesma and Bivand, 2005), and Mantel tests were used to determine correlations between weighted UniFrac and plot distance matrices (Legendre et al., 2012). 16S rRNA-based bacterial community structure in experimental and the control plots did not differ significantly pre-fire in both the restored and remnant prairie (permaova; p = 0.181 and p = 0.06, respectively; Fig. S2). There was no difference in variation (or distance to centroid) between control and experimental plots in the restored prairie (p = 0.543, Table S3). There were differences in variation (or larger distances from centroid) in bacterial communities in the experimental versus control plots in the remnant prairie (p = 0.031, Table S3). Neither Shannon diversity or ASV richness differed between experimental and control plots in either the restored

or remnant prairie pre-fire (p > 0.05; Table S4) and there were no differences in bacterial community structure based on their plot locations in either the remnant prairie or the restored prairie pre-fire (Mantel r = 0.29, p = 0.086 and Mantel r = -0.27, p = 0.904; respectively). There were also no differences in soil pH, nitrate concentration, ammonium concentrations, SWC, and SOM based on their plot locations in either the remnant prairie or the restored prairie pre-fire (p > 0.05, Table S4). Given these results, we concluded that there was no underlying variation which would confound the results at either field site.


**Figure S1.** Experimental design of prescribed burn in both the restored and remnant prairies. Red circles denote locations of the plots in the burned portion of each prairie while blue circles represent the locations of the unburned (control) plots. The yellow rectangles indicate where the burn breaks were in each prairie. Contour lines are provided to indicate changes in elevation. The two soil types (KaC and OsD) that make up each prairie are indicated on the map.



**Figure S2.** Principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) ordinations based on weighted UniFrac distances between pre-fire bacterial communities identified using 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing for control (black circles) and experimental (gray squares) plots in **A**) the restored prairie and **B**) the remnant prairie. Significance was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . In both the restored and remnant prairie, the bacterial communities did not differ between the control and experimental plots pre-fire (p = 0.181 and p = 0.06, respectively).



**Figure S3.** PCA ordination based on the STAMP analysis of the relative abundance of functional gene categories at KEGG level 3 for burned (red) vs control (blue) plots 1-day post-fire in the remnant prairie. Significance was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . *P*-values were corrected using the Storey false discovery rate (p < 0.05). There were no significant differences in the relative abundance of functional gene categories between the burn treatments.



**Figure S4.** NMDS ordinations of plant communities 11-months post-fire in the **A**) remnant prairie and **B**) the restored prairie. Blue triangles represent the control plots while red circles represent the burned plots. Significance was determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . There were no significant differences between treatments in the remnant and restored prairies (p = 0.434 and p = 0.34, respectively).



**Figure S5.** Percent relative abundance of bacterial phyla that comprise >1 % relative abundance in control and burned treatments in the restored prairie 11-months post-fire. Phyla that differ significantly between treatments are indicated with bold lines and phyla that were marginally different were indicated with a dashed line. Significance was determined at  $\alpha$  = 0.05. The relative abundance of Deltaproteobacteria was significantly higher in the burned treatment while the abundance of Planctomycetes was significantly lower as compared to the control in the restored prairie (p = 0.046 and p < 0.001, respectively). The relative abundance of Betaproteobacteria marginally increased in the burned plots of restored prairie while the relative abundance of Verrucomicrobia marginally decreased (p = 0.086 and p = 0.088, respectively).

Prairie Type	Treatment	Plot Number	GPS Coordinate
Restored	Control	Con_1	42.3296492N, 85.6707167W
Restored	Control	Con_2	42.3294143N, 85.6707380W
Restored	Control	Con_3	42.3291410N, 85.6707295W
Restored	Control	Con_4	42.3289745N, 85.6707337W
Restored	Control	Con_5	42.3286627N, 85.6707252W
Restored	Burned	Burn_1	42.3295724N, 85.6729973W
Restored	Burned	Burn_2	42.3296279N, 85.6724976W
Restored	Burned	Burn_3	42.3292948N, 85.6723353W
Restored	Burned	Burn_4	42.3292905N, 85.6718570W
Restored	Burned	Burn_5	42.3289745N, 85.6721773W
Remnant	Control	Con_1	42.3278171N, 85.6723823W
Remnant	Control	Con_2	42.3277146N, 85.6722456W
Remnant	Control	Con_3	42.3276676N, 85.6724592W
Remnant	Control	Con_4	42.3275267N, 85.6722456W
Remnant	Control	Con_5	42.3274498N, 85.6723908W
Remnant	Burned	Burn_1	42.3277829N, 85.6717032W
Remnant	Burned	Burn_2	42.3276676N, 85.6718313W
Remnant	Burned	Burn_3	42.3275437N, 85.6719552W
Remnant	Burned	Burn_4	42.3275352N, 85.6716989W
Remnant	Burned	Burn_5	42.3274455N, 85.6718356W

Table S1. GPS coordinates of each plot in both the restored and remnant prairie.

	Restored	Remnant
Time point	Sequences per sample	Sequences per sample
Pre-Fire	1533	1425
1-day post-fire	1533	1448
1-month post-fire	2033	2586
7-months post-fire	28204	52973
11-months post-fire	47408	40579

**Table S2.** Number of sequences per sample by time point for therestored and remnant prairie.

	Rest	tored	Remnant					
Characteristics	Control	Experimental	Control	Experimental				
Shannon diversity (ASVs)	6.67 ± 0.27	6.59 ± 0.083	6.2 ± 0.21	6.19 ± 0.15				
ASV Richness	183.6 ± 35.88	183.4 ± 11.73	166 ± 22.95	147.2 ± 13.84				
Distance To centroid	0.074	0.068	0.104	0.131				

**Table S3.** Pre-fire soil bacterial community characteristics in the restored and remnantprairie. Average diversity and richness  $\pm$  95% confidence intervals are presented.

ASV: Amplicon Sequence Variant Significance was assessed at  $\alpha = 0.5$ 

**Table S4**. Mantel test results between plot locations for five different edaphic factors and bacterial ASV composition in the remnant and restored prairie pre-fire. No significant differences were detected at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

	Rem	nant	Rest	ored
Soil Characteristic	Mantel r	p value	Mantel r	p value
рН	-0.054	0.54	-0.225	0.88
SWC	0.034	0.37	0.041	0.35
SOM	-0.290	0.99	-0.061	0.58
NO <sub>3</sub> -	-0.057	0.58	-0.029	0.51
NH4 <sup>+</sup>	0.081	0.27	-0.200	0.86
Bacterial Community	0.290	0.09	-0.270	0.90

SWC: Soil Water Content; SOM: Soil organic matter

	Co	ontr	ol	В	urne	b	C	ont	rol	Bu	irne	ed	Co	ontr	ol	Bu	irne	ed	Co	ontr	ol	Bu	irne	ed
Characteristics	Sep	. 20	013	Se	ep-1:	3	Oct	t. 2	013	Oct	. 20	)13	Apri	120	014	Apri	120	)14	Aug	. 20	)14	Aug	. 20	)14
pН	6.1	±	0.2	7.3	±	0.4	6.4	±	0.1	6.6	±	0.2	6.5	±	0.2	7.2	±	0.2	6.7	±	0.2	7.0	±	0.1
Soil Temperature (°C)	16.7	±	0.3	14.6	±	1.1	7.2	±	0.5	7.8	±	0.8	6.8	±	0.4	8.1	±	0.6	13.7	±	0.4	14.3	±	0.7
SWC (%)	10.3	±	1.1	12.4	±	0.7	19.3	±	1.3	21.4	±	2.5	22.7	±	1.5	20.1	±	3.6	9.6	±	0.7	12.6	±	3.3
SOM (mg)	231.5	±	23.7		ND		277.5	±	52.4	324.4	±	86.8	322.9	±	68.4	402.7	±	72.4	421.5	±	18.1	553.0	±	56.9
$NO_3^-$ (µg • g dry soil <sup>-1</sup> )	99.8	±	86.1	71.9	±	33.0	195.9	±	73.5	276.2	±	85.4	23.6	±	16.5	55.1	±	38.1	13.0	±	7.8	125.0	±	33.0
NH4 <sup>+</sup> (µg • g dry soil <sup>-1</sup> )	144.2	±	75.5	134.6	±	55.2	128.5	±	12.1	100.5	±	22.5	156.1	±	50.3	119.3	±	16.6	142.1	±	56.6	178.5	±	81.9
Total Phosphorus (ppm)	7.6	±	3.5	6.2	±	1.4	5.7	±	2.3	4.6	±	2.6	7.7	±	3.1	7.7	±	3.7	4.7	±	1.8	3.3	±	1.3
AGB (g • m <sup>-2</sup> )	648.0	±	126.4		ND		121.1	±	56.8	5.1	±	6.0		ND			ND		744.4	±	160.9	877.7	±	228.6
AGL (g • m <sup>-2</sup> )	916.0	±	171.1		ND		1276.8	±	249.7	399.2	±	154.7		ND			ND		870.2	±	253.8	381.8	±	162.3
BGB (g)	1.7	±	0.2		ND		3.5	±	2.3	1.9	±	0.9		ND			ND		5.0	±	1.2	5.3	±	3.3
β-gluosidase (nmol•[g ODE soil] <sup>-1</sup> • h <sup>-1</sup> )	521.2	±	163.3	167.2	±	93.4	571.4	±	378.5	819.8	±	221.8	361.9	±	69.2	657.1	±	213.7	66.7	±	33.4	104.1	±	32.8
Cellobiohydrolase (nmol•[g ODE soil] <sup>-1</sup> • h <sup>-1</sup> )	129.8	±	60.5	96.3	±	69.9	148.7	±	39.4	197.0	±	54.6	55.6	±	17.7	96.9	±	61.6	36.2	±	21.2	57.2	±	16.0
NAG (nmol•[g ODE soil] <sup>-1</sup> • h <sup>-1</sup> )	211.1	±	56.7	286.3	±	188.8	345.0	±	105.5	295.8	±	66.2	102.9	±	11.9	129.9	±	67.6	50.2	±	26.8	87.1	±	26.2
Phosphatase (nmol•[g ODE soil] <sup>-1</sup> • h <sup>-1</sup> )	3480.1	±	921.1	1489.8	±	522.8	3817.9	±	1643.7	4235.6	±	763.1	2474.1	±	347.9	1990.1	±	644.2	259.8	±	49.3	408.7	±	62.8
Shannon diversity (ASVs)	6.7	±	0.3	6.3	±	0.2	6.8	±	0.2	6.9	±	0.1	9.4	±	0.2	9.3	±	0.2	9.4	±	0.3	9.1	±	0.1
ASV Richness	184.0	±	35.9	156.0	±	25.2	205.0	±	21.0	215.5	±	16.8	1289.0	±	274.4	1386.0	±	146.8	1480.0	±	209.5	1217.0	±	170.9

**Table S5**. Average soil and plant characteristics over time in the restored prairie ( $\pm$  95% confidence interval).

SWC: Soil Water Content; AGB: Above Ground Biomass; AGL: Above Ground Litter; BGB: Below Ground Biomass; ODE: oven-dried equivalent; NAG: N-acetylglucosaminidase; SOM: Soil Organic Matter; ASV: Amplicon Sequence Variants

**Bold Text** indicates significance at p < 0.05 in the comparison of burned and control treatments at each time point.

-	Co	onti	rol	В	urne	d	Co	ontr	ol	Bu	irne	d	С	ont	rol	В	urn	ed	Cc	ntr	ol	Bu	rne	<del>:</del> d
Characteristics	Sep	t. 2	2013	Sep	ot. 20	013	Oct	. 20	)13	Oct	. 20	)13	Ар	ril 2	014	Арі	ril 2	014	Aug	. 20	)14	Aug	. 20	)14
рН	6.1	±	0.2	7.1	±	0.4	5.9	±	0.3	6.8	±	0.6	6.5	±	0.2	7.0	±	0.3	6.4	±	0.2	6.6	±	0.1
Soil Temperature (°C)	15.1	±	0.8	19.2	±	2.7	8.0	±	0.5	8.0	±	0.9	8.7	±	0.3	9.0	±	1.0	18.4	±	0.9	20.8	±	ND
SWC (%)	12.8	±	1.5	10.8	±	2.2	21.5	±	1.7	22.2	±	1.7	21.2	±	1.7	21.5	±	1.2	12.3	±	1.0	12.2	±	2.8
SOM (mg)	206.5	±	17.6		ND		286.7	±	72.5	346.4	±	33.4	379.6	±	26.9	367.8	±	57.8	476.2	±	78.2	574.0	±	87.2
$NO_{3}^{-}$ (µg • g dry soil <sup>-1</sup> )	20.3	±	19.5	56.0	±	42.5	105.0	±	59.6	115.8	±	36.5	55.3	±	38.6	12.7	±	7.8	25.5	±	26.9	134.0	±	21.4
$NH_4^+$ (µg • g dry soil-1)	53.9	±	11.5	153.8	±	44.5	68.4	±	14.5	100.1	±	92.0	86.2	±	41.9	183.5	±	57.1	124.7	±	31.1	162.6	±	48.1
Total Phosphorus (ppm)	4.5	±	1.6	5.4	±	1.7	3.8	±	1.6	7.3	±	7.4	4.8	±	1.5	7.3	±	3.8	2.7	±	1.0	4.2	±	2.0
AGB (g • m <sup>-2</sup> )	459.7	±	186.3		ND		192.3	±	92.1	16.1	±	27.5		ND			ND		605.6	±	106.0	688.2	±	181.7
AGL (g • m <sup>-2</sup> )	414.0	±	264.6		ND		926.8	±	138.3	560.5	±	311.0		ND			ND		417.6	±	74.4	334.5	±	174.5
BGB (g)	3.9	±	1.4		ND		3.1	±	0.8	3.4	±	2.1		ND			ND		8.0	±	2.2	7.3	±	2.7
β-gluosidase (nmol•[g ODE soil] <sup>-1</sup> • h <sup>-1</sup> )	166.1	±	81.9	91.1	±	82.8	359.8	±	80.6	643.9	±	266.7	228.8	±	132.8	383.7	±	203.1	62.7	±	26.3	114.3	±	74.3
Cellobiohydrolase (nmol•[g ODE soil] <sup>-1</sup> • h <sup>-1</sup> )	141.9	±	65.4	98.4	±	45.4	77.6	±	50.0	116.2	±	39.2	121.6	±	98.3	115.1	±	69.2	71.4	±	11.8	138.1	±	175.2
NAG (nmol•[g ODE soil] <sup>-1</sup> • h <sup>-1</sup> )	368.8	±	225.5	297.3	±	200.3	124.9	±	47.9	257.1	±	100.4	346.9	±	287.9	277.4	±	229.3	76.3	±	30.5	165.0	±	49.5
Phosphatase (nmol•[g ODE soil] <sup>-1</sup> • h <sup>-1</sup> )	2047.5	±	1157.4	2402.1	±	1269.2	2746.8	±	857.2	2909.2	±	798.7	2697.3	±	1269.0	3000.8	±	1146.0	377.3	±	140.3	399.1	±	226.3
Shannon diversity (ASVs)	6.2	±	0.2	6.8	±	0.1	6.5	±	0.1	6.7	±	0.3	9.2	±	0.4	9.0	±	0.3	9.0	±	0.2	9.0	±	0.2
ASV Richness	166.4	±	23.0	203.2	±	5.3	189.6	±	7.8	207.4	±	39.7	1370.4	±	243.9	1156.4	±	244.8	1212.2	±	166.3	1068.8	±	152.8

**Table S6.** Average soil and plant characteristics over time in the remnant prairie ( $\pm$  95% confidence interval).

SWC: Soil Water Content; AGB: Above Ground Biomass; AGL: Above Ground Litter; BGB: Below Ground Biomass; ODE: oven-dried equivalent; NAG: Nacetylglucosaminidase; SOM: Soil Organic Matter; ASV: Amplicon Sequence Variants **Bold Text** indicates significance at p < 0.05 in the comparison of burned and control treatments at each time point.

	Rest	ored	Remnant			
Month	Control	Burned	Control	Burned		
September	0.081	0.068	0.068	0.073		
October	0.081	0.093	0.036	0.036		
April	0.020	0.020	0.020	0.015		
August	0.032	0.026	0.011	0.011		

**Table S7.** Distance to centroid between the control and burned plots in both the restored and remnant prairie. No distances were significant at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

	Negative F	ire-Responders	Positive Fire-Responders			
Gene Category	Betaproteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Verrucomicrobia		
Cell Division	0.83	0.85	0.65	-0.61		
DNA Replication	0.79	0.53	0.66	-0.49		
DNA Replication Proteins	0.60	0.51	0.68	-0.41		
Translation Proteins	0.42	0.37	0.54	0.04		
Base Excision Repair	-0.85	-0.81	-0.50	0.47		
Nucleotide Excision Repair	-0.72	-0.76	-0.37	0.53		
Alanine, Aspartate, and glutamate metabolism	-0.84	-0.72	-0.45	0.53		
Glycine, serine, and threonine metabolism	-0.84	-0.85	-0.62	0.39		
Tyrosine Metabolism	-0.60	-0.66	-0.76	0.34		
Carbohydrate Metabolism	-0.82	-0.82	-0.57	0.74		
Galactose Metabolism	-0.85	-0.73	-0.51	0.38		
Fructose and Mannose Metabolism	-0.73	-0.79	-0.57	0.88		

**Table S8.** Correlation coefficient (r) between functional gene categories and phyla that significantly differed in abundance between burned and control plots 1-day post-fire.

	Neg	Positive Fire- Responders		
Gene Category	Desulfuromonadales	Flavobacteriaceae	Micropepsaceae	Xiphinematobacteraceae
Cell Division	0.82	0.79	0.80	-0.90
DNA Replication	0.83	0.87	0.65	-0.81
DNA Replication Proteins	0.81	0.74	0.48	-0.78
Translation Proteins	0.74	0.62	0.32	-0.54
Base Excision Repair	-0.50	-0.57	-0.74	0.69
Nucleotide Excision Repair	-0.35	-0.41	-0.71	0.59
Alanine, Aspartate, and glutamate metabolism	-0.35	-0.55	-0.71	0.62
Glycine, serine, and threonine metabolism	-0.71	-0.66	-0.69	0.77
Tyrosine Metabolism	-0.73	-0.42	-0.52	0.78
Carbohydrate Metabolism	-0.69	-0.71	-0.86	0.85
Galactose Metabolism	-0.45	-0.56	-0.72	0.62
Fructose and Mannose Metabolism	-0.54	-0.50	-0.73	0.83

**Table S9.** Correlation coefficient (r) between functional gene categories and families that significantly differed in abundance between burned and control plots 1-day post-fire.

	Rest	ored	Rem	nant
Plant Species	Control	Burned	Control	Burned
Andropogon gerardii	56.47	56.69	25.22	21.08
Sorghastrum nutans	-	-	2.92	2.98
Quercus velutina	-	-	1.82	1.98
Helianthus divaricatus	-	-	6.20	3.39
Solidago speciosa	-	-	2.15	0.57
Sassafras albidum	-	-	8.35	8.50
Rhus copallina	0.83	-	3.08	0.91
Schizachyrium scoparium	-	-	0.70	0.29
Desmodium 1	-	-	2.48	8.93
Solidago altissima	17.47	19.66	3.43	0.34
Solidago nemoralis	-	-	0.36	-
Solidago juncea	-	-	16.10	15.38
Euthamia graminifolia	1.55	1.18	-	2.91
Lespedeza hirta	-	-	0.36	0.00
Crataegus sp.	-	-	1.01	0.82
Rosa carolina	-	-	0.36	-
Lupinus perennis	-	-	0.66	-
Desmodium 2	-	-	0.77	0.29
Galium Circaezans	-	-	0.66	0.24
Asclepias tuberosa	-	-	0.33	-
Rubus flagellaris	-	-	3.89	1.47
Lespedeza violacea	-	-	0.33	-
Euphorbia corollata	-	-	0.44	-
Desmodium rotundifolium	-	-	-	5.86
Rumex acetosella	-	-	-	0.24
Celastrus orbiculatus	-	-	-	0.29
Quercus alba	-	-	-	2.88
Baptisia alba	-	-	-	1.44
Carex radiata	-	-	-	0.29
Acer rubrum	-	-	-	0.06
Ranunculus arboretums	-	-	-	0.06
Achillea millefolium	-	-	-	0.29
Monarda fistulosa	-	-	-	0.29
Hieracium gronovii	-	-	-	0.34
Desmodium conescens	-	-	-	0.34
Juglans nigra	1.50	-	-	-
Silphium integrifolium	5.48	1.18	-	-
Coreopsis tripteris	0.71	-	3.99	6.07
Rubus allegheniensis	3.86	3.16	3.99	4.93

Table S10. Relative abundances of plant species in the restored and remnant 11-months post-fire.

Erigeron Annuus	0.36	-	-	-
Oxalis fontana	0.21	0.27	-	-
Taraxacum officinale	0.13	0.13	-	-
Oenothera biennis	0.67	-	-	-
Elymus repens	1.60	12.43	0.36	-
Verbascum blattaria	0.13	-	-	-
Rumex crispus	0.36	-	-	-
Ratibida pinnata	2.38	-	-	-
Lactuca canadensis	0.36	-	-	-
Osmorhiza sp.	0.36	-	-	-
Asplenium platyneuron	0.36	-	-	-
Silene pratensis	0.36	0.09	-	-
Prunus serotina	0.36	-	1.61	0.29
Trifolium repens	0.36	0.57	-	-
Symphyotrichum lateriflorum	0.36	-	-	-
Dactylis glomerata	0.36	-	-	-
Carex blanda	0.36	-	-	-
Apocynum cannabinum	0.93	0.54	0.77	1.69
Panicum virgatum	0.36	-	-	-
Vitis riparia	0.36	-	-	-
Toxicodendron radicans	0.11	-	-	-
Carex bicknellii	0.56	-	-	-
Rosa mulitflora	0.56	-	-	-
Rudbeckia hirta	0.11	0.45	-	-
Conyza canadensis	-	0.57	-	-
Poa pratensis	-	2.36	6.98	4.33
Ambrosia artemisiifolia	-	0.09	-	-
Hypercum perforatum	-	0.09	0.66	0.24
Barbarea vulgaris	-	0.09	-	-
Asclepias syriaca	-	0.45	-	-

Characteristic	Betaproteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Planctomycetes	Verrucomicrobia
AGL	-0.30	-0.35	0.80	0.17
NO3 <sup>-</sup>	0.70	0.60	-0.77	-0.48
pН	0.55	0.66	-0.38	-0.25
SOM	0.25	0.25	-0.62	-0.58

**Table S11.** Correlation between plant and soil characteristics and bacterial phyla that significantly differed in abundance between burned and control plots 11-months post-fire.

Characteristic	Opitutaceae	Phaselicystidaceae	Planctomycetales	Subgroup 5
AGL	0.70	0.47	0.47	-0.54
NO3 <sup>-</sup>	-0.75	0.88	-0.76	0.87
рН	-0.63	0.77	-0.41	0.66
SOM	-0.65	0.66	-0.53	0.88

**Table S12.** Correlation between plant and soil characteristics and bacterial families that significantly differed in abundance between burned and control plots 11-months post-fire

## APPENDIX B

## Supplemental Information for Chapter II



### Figure S6. Map of the field plots in

**Michigan.** USA color-coded using the National Land Cover Database 2016 Land Use Categories as defined by Yang et al. (2018).



# Figure S7. Map of the field plots in

**Minnesota.** USA color-coded using the National Land Cover Database 2016 Land Use Categories as defined by Yang et al. (2018).



#### MNL Upland Dry Prairie Mix Mixed Height

8740 77th Street NE Otsego, MN 55362

Ideal for dry (xeric) or sandy sites, mixed height grasses with total height from 2-5'

			% of	Seeds/	PLS	Bloom
	Scientific Name	Common Name	Mix	Sq Ft	lbs/ac	Season
Grasses:	Andropogon gerardii	Big Bluestem	4.00	1.91	0.52	
	Bouteloua curtipendula	Side-Oats Grama	22.00	10.45	2.86	
	Bouteloua gracilis	Blue Grama	8.00	15.28	1.04	
	Elymus trachycaulus	Slender Wheat Grass	5.00	1.65	0.65	
	Koeleria macrantha	Junegrass	1.00	8.36	0.13	
	Schizachyrium scoparium	Little Bluestem	18.00	12.89	2.34	
	Sorghastrum nutans	Indian Grass	7.00	4.01	0.91	
	Sporobolus compositus	Rough Dropseed	1.50	2.15	0.20	
	Sporobolus heterolepis	Prairie Dropseed	2.00	1.53	0.26	
Sedges/Rushes:	Carex bicknellii	Bicknell's Sedge	1.50	1.22	0.20	
Forbs:	Achillea millefolium	Yarrow	0.15	1.25	0.02	Summer
	Agastache foeniculum	Fragrant Giant Hyssop	0.15	0.64	0.02	Summer
	Allium stellatum	Prairie Onion	0.50	0.26	0.07	Summer
	Amorpha canescens	Leadplant	2.00	1.53	0.26	Summer
	Asclepias syriaca	Common Milkweed	1.75	0.33	0.23	Summer
	Asclepias tuberosa	Butterfly Milkweed	1.25	0.26	0.16	Summer
	Chamaecrista fasciculata	Partridge Pea	6.00	0.77	0.78	Fall
	Coreopsis palmata	Prairie Coreopsis	0.15	0.07	0.02	Summer
	Dalea candida	White Prairie Clover	4.00	3.63	0.52	Summer
	Dalea purpureum	Purple Prairie Clover	6.50	4.66	0.85	Summer
	Echinacea angustifolia	Narrow-leaved Coneflower	0.25	0.08	0.03	Summer
	Helianthus pauciflorus	Stiff Sunflower	0.30	0.06	0.04	Fall
	Lespedeza capitata	Round-headed Bushclover	1.00	0.38	0.13	Summer
	Liatris aspera	Rough Blazing Star	0.30	0.23	0.04	Summer
	Penstemon grandiflorus	Showy Penstemon	0.50	0.33	0.07	Spring
	Potentilla arguta	Prairie Cinquefoil	0.15	1.65	0.02	Summer
	Ratibida columnifera	Long-Headed Coneflower	1.50	3.01	0.20	Summer
	Rudbeckia hirta	Black Eyed Susan	1.50	6.59	0.20	Summer
	Solidago nemoralis	Gray Goldenrod	0.25	3.58	0.03	Fall
	Solidago rigida	Stiff Goldenrod	0.50	0.98	0.07	Fall
	Symphyotrichum laevis	Smooth Blue Aster	0.15	0.39	0.02	Fall
	Symphyotrichum oolentangiensis	Sky Blue Aster	0.25	0.96	0.03	Fall
	Tradescantia bracteata	Prairie Spiderwort	0.15	0.07	0.02	Spring
	Verbena stricta	Hoary Vervain	0.75	1.00	0.10	Summer
0			100.00	92.17	13.00	
Seeds/sq ft:	92.00					
Grass Species:	9					
Seages/Rush Sp:	1					
Forb Species:	24					

Figure S8. Prairie seed mix used to seed the plants present plots.



**Figure S9. A)** NMDS ordination and **B)** bubble plot of the bacterial communities in the MI (Fine loam) and MN (Coarse loam) sites in Summer 2020. In A) soil characteristics are represented by lines, and the length of each line is proportional to the explanatory power of each variable.

	SOM (%)	CO <sub>2</sub> Flux (µmol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	pН	SWC (%)	NO₃⁻ (ug g soil⁻¹)	NH₄⁺ (ug g soil⁻¹)	% C	% N	C:N	ASV Richness	ASV Diversity
p value											
Treatment	0.58	0.08	0.69	0.033	0.009	0.83	0.15	0.33	0.15	0.06	0.07
Plants Present	0.54	0.55	0.28	0.18	0.006	0.26	0.26	0.2	0.46	0.68	0.66
Treatment x Plants Present	0.81	0.53	0.99	0.33	0.017	0.052	0.54	0.63	0.93	0.67	0.64
Overall Treatment											
Control	3.32±0.14	3.26±0.34	7.46±0.17	11.8±0.86 <b>AB</b>	224.9±112.4 <b>A</b>	42.5±5.5	1.15±0.06	0.12±0.004	9.77±0.30	1003±49.4	6.36±0.10
Cellulose	3.59±0.22	3.95±0.53	7.34±0.26	14.4±0.78 <b>B</b>	46.6±12.2 <b>B</b>	41.0±4.1	1.34±0.10	0.13±0.007	10.36±0.29	872±101.7	6.24±0.16
Biomass	3.57 ± 0.19	4.46±0.24	7.27±0.19	11.4±0.72 <b>A</b>	345.7±160.8 <b>A</b>	47.0±8.4	1.30±0.09	0.13±0.009	10.41±0.49	1039±52.7	6.51±0.04
Plants Present											
Plants Present	3.47±0.12	3.99±0.27	7.41±0.11	12.2±0.68	104.0±52.2A	41.5±3.3	1.30±0.07	0.13±0.006	10.2±0.18	953±53.7	6.34±0.08
Plants Absent	3.53±0.12	3.79±0.28	7.30±0.15	12.9±0.52	308.0±88.8 <b>B</b>	45.5±4.4	1.25±0.04	0.12±0.003	10.1±0.27	990±33.7	6.39±0.05

**Table S12.** Results of linear-mixed effect models examining the effects of carbon addition (Treatment) and plant presence (Plant Present) on soil and microbial characteristics in the fine loam soil from 2019 ( $\pm$  SE).

SWC: Soil Water Content; SOM: Soil Organic Matter; % C: Percent Total Carbon; % N: Percent Total Nitrogen; C:N: Carbon to nitrogen ratio; ASV: Amplicon Sequence Variant.

**Bolded text** indicates significance at p < 0.05.

Means with the same letters are not significantly different while those with different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05)

	SOM (%)	CO <sub>2</sub> Flux (µmol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	pН	SWC (%)	NO₃ <sup>-</sup> (ug g soil-1)	NH₄⁺ (ug g soil-1)	% C	% N	C:N	ASV Richness	ASV Diversity
p value											
Treatment	0.002	<0.001	0.004	0.19	0.065	0.03	0.011	0.009	<0.001	0.09	0.33
Plants Present	0.75	<0.001	0.51	0.6	0.1	0.63	0.94	0.83	0.69	0.043	0.25
Treatment x Plants Present	0.42	0.75	0.64	0.57	0.97	0.86	0.42	0.34	0.5	0.29	0.09
Overall Treatm ent											
Control	2.38±0.89A	4.26±0.50A	6.72±0.22A	17.3±0.29	221.8±75.3	9.57±3.3A	0.74±0.04 <b>A</b>	0.10±0.004A	7.09±0.14 <b>A</b>	944±65.3	6.25±0.08
Cellulose	2.78±0.09 <b>B</b>	5.58±0.58 <b>B</b>	6.57±0.12A	17.3±0.62	65.9±20.1	13.80±2.4 <b>AB</b>	0.91±0.06 <b>B</b>	0.11±0.004A	8.31±0.37 <b>B</b>	991±52.7	6.24±0.08
Biomass	2.77±0.10 <b>B</b>	6.96±0.60 <b>C</b>	5.89±0.20 <b>B</b>	16.4±0.49	72.1±17.4	26.55±8.0 <b>B</b>	0.78±0.02 <b>AB</b>	0.095±0.002 <b>B</b>	8.17 ± 0.21 <b>B</b>	1080±59.3	6.35±0.09
Plants											
Plants Present	2.63±0.074	6.62±0.35	6.43±0.15	16.9±0.25	133.0±27.3	15.5±3.4	0.82±0.04	0.103±0.003	7.9±0.22	1043±35.8 <b>A</b>	6.31±0.05
Plants Absent	2.65±0.066	4.58±0.32	6.36±0.12	17.1±0.33	107.0±34.9	17.8±3.1	0.80±0.02	0.103±0.002	7.82±0.17	967±35.6 <b>B</b>	6.25±0.05

**Table S13.** Results of linear-mixed effect models examining the effects of carbon addition (Treatment) and plant presence (Plant Present) on soil characteristics in the coarse loam soil from 2019 ( $\pm$  SE).

SWC: Soil Water Content; SOM: Soil Organic Matter; % C: Percent Total Carbon; % N: Percent Total Nitrogen, C:N: Carbon to nitrogen ratio; ASV: Amplicon Sequence Variant.

**Bolded text** indicates significance at p < 0.05.

Means with the same letters are not significantly different while those with different letter are significantly different (p < 0.05)